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A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Kevin Lewis asks the Supreme Court to accept review of 

the Court of Appeals decision designated in this petition. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Lewis requests review of the decision in State v. Kevin 

Laurence Lewis, Court of Appeals No. 83594-7- I (slip op. filed 

December 26, 2023). 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1 .  Should the jury have been instructed on first 

degree manslaughter as a lesser offense to aggravated first 

degree murder, and does the Court of Appeals decision conflict 

with precedent requiring the evidence be looked at in light most 

favorable to the party requesting the lesser offense instruction? 

2. Must a person's race or ethnicity be considered 

among the totality of circumstances in assessing whether that 

person is in custody for purposes of Miranda 1 protection, and 

1 Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S. Ct. 1 602, 1 6  L. Ed. 
2d 694 ( 1966). 
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did the court err in denying Lewis's motion to suppress his 

statements in the absence of Miranda warnings, contributing to 

an unfair trial? 

3. Where police searched massive amounts of data 

contained in various electronic accounts via search warrants, 

should the evidence derived from them have been suppressed 

because the warrants lacked probable cause or were overbroad, 

and did the resulting prejudice contribute to an unfair trial? 

4. Did the court err in admitting hearsay statements 

made by one of the participants in the shooting, and did the 

resulting prejudice contribute to an unfair trial? 

5. Did the court err in admitting police op1mon 

testimony on Lewis's guilt, and did the resulting prejudice 

contribute to an unfair trial? 

6. Did the court err in admitting evidence on how 

Lewis treated his children on the night of the shooting, and did 

the resulting prejudice contribute to an unfair trial? 

- 2 -



7. Did the court err in admitting evidence of prior 

assaults under ER 404(b ), and did the resulting prejudice 

contribute to an unfair trial? 

8. Did cumulative error violate Lewis's due process 

right to a fair trial? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On September 20, 20 17, Jerradon ("Jayy") Phelps shot 

Alisha Canales-McGuire five times with a firearm, killing her. 

lRP 2820, 2858, 2936-42. The State charged Kevin Lewis with 

aggravated first degree murder ( domestic violence), alleging 

Lewis solicited another to commit the murder and offered 

money to do so. CP 239-40. The State's theory was that Lewis 

hired his cousin Phelps to kill his estranged wife Amanda 

Canales, and that Phelps, together with his girlfriend Alexis 

Hale, mistakenly killed Canales's sister. lRP 3638-39, 3659-63. 

The defense theory was that Lewis did not hire Phelps to 

commit murder; Phelps went too far on his own for his own 

reasons. lRP 3668-39, 3779-80. The jury found Lewis guilty. 
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CP 34-39. The court imposed a sentence of life without the 

possibility of parole. CP 23. Lewis raised numerous arguments 

on appeal, but the Court of Appeals affirmed the conviction. 

Slip op. at 1 -2. 

E. WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

1. Lewis had the right to instruction on first 

degree manslaughter as a lesser offense to 

aggravated murder, and the Court of Appeals 

failed to follow precedent in holding otherwise. 

When a judge refuses to instruct the jury on a lesser 

offense based on its interpretation of the evidence, there is a 

danger of usurping the jury's role as fact finder. In this case, the 

danger is realized. There is affirmative evidence that would 

enable a rational juror to infer Lewis recklessly caused death 

and thereby committed first degree manslaughter, requiring 

reversal of the conviction due to the lack of lesser offense 

instruction. 

Lewis asked Phelps if he knew an "OG" to "get 

somebody out of the way." lRP 29 1 1, 3065. Phelps assumed 
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that Lewis meant that he should kill the person. lRP 3067-68, 

3078, 3094. Phelps acknowledged that was not the only 

available interpretation. lRP 3068, 3094. He "assumed" no 

clarification was needed, which is why he "didn't ask what he 

meant when he asked to get someone out of the way." lRP 

3078. When asked if that was a common street understanding, 

Phelps replied "I guess it could be. I'm not sure." lRP 3094. 

Lewis never used the word "kill" or "murder." lRP 3066-67. 

When Phelps met up with Lewis on the night of the shooting, 

there was no discussion of what Phelps was to do; Lewis just 

gave him directions on where to go and showed him a picture 

of the target. lRP 2927, 2929-31. 

One inference from the evidence is that Lewis viewed 

Amanda as an obstruction or impediment to his goal. Lewis 

wanted custody of his children and to avoid a continued drain 

on his finances associated with the divorce. lRP 1521-24; Ex. 

35, 36, 245A. Confronting Amanda through a go-between 

could be viewed as a means to this end. Lewis, via Phelps, 
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could get her "out of the way" by having Phelps threaten or 

injure her, without intending that he kill Amanda, in which case 

Lewis was only guilty of first degree manslaughter, not 

aggravated first degree murder. 

Defendants are entitled to have juries instructed on lesser 

included offenses. RCW 10.6 1 .006. The refusal to provide a 

lesser offense instruction violates due process whenever the 

evidence would support conviction on the lesser offense. 

Ferrazza v. Mintzes, 735 F.2d 967, 968 (6th Cir. 1984); U.S. 

Const. amend. XIV. 

The defense proposed instructions for first degree 

manslaughter, with its culpable mental state of recklessness, as 

a lesser offense to the charged first degree murder. CP 72, 80. 

There is no dispute that the legal prong of the standard for 

giving a less offense instruction is met. State v. Bowerman, 

1 15 Wn.2d 794, 805, 802 P.2d 1 1 6 ( 1990). The trial court ruled 

the factual prong was unmet and declined to give the proposed 

instructions on manslaughter. lRP 3595, 3599, 3609, 3622-23. 
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There need only be "some evidence" from "whatever 

source" that "affirmatively establishes the defendant's theory" 

for a lesser offense instruction. State v. Coryell, 197 Wn.2d 

397, 4 15, 483 P.3d 98 (202 1 ). Despite this Court's attempt in 

Coryell to clarify the standard for lesser offense instruction, the 

standard continues to bedevil courts in its application. 

The Court of Appeals held the trial court did not err in 

refusing to instruct the jury on the lesser offense of first degree 

manslaughter: "There is no affirmative evidence of Lewis 

having a reckless mental state. Phelps's testimony that Lewis 

requested he 'get [Canales] out of the way,' even if subject to 

differing interpretations, is not affirmative evidence that Lewis 

subjectively disregarded a risk that homicide might occur. '[ I]t 

is not enough that the jury might disbelieve the evidence 

pointing to guilty."' Slip op. at 5 1  (quoting Coryell, 197 Wn.2d 

at 4 15). 

The Court of Appeals misinterpreted Coryell. When 

Coryell stated "it is not enough that the jury might disbelieve 
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the evidence pointing to guilty," it simply meant "evidence 

must affirmatively establish the defendant's theory of the case." 

Coryell, 197 Wn.2d at 4 15. The factual prong requires "a 

positive inference from the evidence presented that the lesser 

crime was committed." Id. at 4 14. 

The Court of Appeals looked at the evidence in the light 

most favorable to the State to hold no rational trier of fact could 

have found Lewis recklessly caused death. But "[w]hen 

determining if the evidence at trial was sufficient to support the 

giving of an instruction, the appellate court is to view the 

supporting evidence in the light most favorable to the party that 

requested the instruction." State v. Fernandez-Medina, 14 1  

Wn.2d 448, 455-56, 6 P.3d 1 150 (2000). "This ensures that 

juries are the arbiters of factual disputes." State v. Tullar, 9 Wn. 

App. 2d 15 1,  153, 442 P.3d 620 (20 19). The affirmative 

evidence is Lewis's statement to Phelps, which allowed for 

different inferences of what was intended due to its ambiguity. 

It was for the jury to decide Lewis's state of mind in making 
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that ambiguous statement and his state of mind in subsequently 

interacting with Phelps as events led up to the shooting. 

The State routinely proves a culpable mental state based 

on circumstantial evidence. State v. Davis, 60 Wn. App. 8 1 3, 

8 19, 808 P.2d 1 67 ( 199 1 )  ("As a practical matter, the mens rea 

element is generally established only by circumstantial 

evidence"), affd, 1 1 9 Wn.2d 657, 835 P.2d 1039 ( 1992). 

Should not the defendant get the same consideration in 

assessing whether a lesser offense instruction is supported by 

the evidence? The Court of Appeals' holding deprives jurors 

from assessing whether the defendant has a lesser mental state 

based on inferences to be drawn from circumstantial evidence 

in favor of the defendant. 

The trial court agreed a Juror could find Lewis acted 

recklessly in making his statement to Phelps, RP 3609, but felt 

Lewis's actions on the night of the event were not merely 

reckless without articulating why this was so. RP 3606, 3622-

23. What the court failed to grasp is evidence that Lewis, 
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having initiated events through a statement susceptible to 

different interpretations, continued to act recklessly in his 

subsequent interaction with Phelps on the night of the shooting 

by not clarifying what he wanted Phelps to do while directing 

Phelps to Amanda's residence. 

Lesser instruction can be warranted in accomplice cases. 

See In re Pers. Restraint of Sandoval, 189 Wn.2d 8 1 1,  821 -23, 

408 P.3d 675 (20 18) (court erred in failing to instruct on first 

degree manslaughter as lesser offense to murder by extreme 

indifference, where defendant was charged as an absent 

accomplice to the shooting). 

A rational juror, based on the evidence presented, could 

find Lewis recklessly caused the death of another person, not 

intending, or even knowing, that Phelps would do so. 

Regardless of plausibility, the defendant has an "absolute right" 

to have the jury consider a lesser offense "when evidence 

supports an inference that it was committed." State v. Parker, 
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1 02 Wn.2d 1 6 1, 1 66,683 P.2d 189 ( 1984). Lewis seeks review 

under RAP 1 3.4(b)(l), (3) and (4). 

2. Review is warranted to decide whether race is a 

relevant circumstance in considering whether a 

suspect is in custody for purposes of Miranda 

protection, and whether Lewis was in custody 

based on all the circumstances of his encounter 

with police. 

In State v. Sum, 199 Wn.2d 627, 656, 5 1 1 P.3d 92 (2022), 

this Court "formally recognize[d] what has always been true: in 

interactions with law enforcement, race and ethnicity matter." 

Sum, 199 Wn.2d at 656. Sum held "courts must consider the 

race and ethnicity of the allegedly seized person as part of the 

totality of the circumstances when deciding whether there was a 

seizure for purposes of article I, section 7." Id. 

Lewis's case provides this Court with the opportunity to 

expand on Sum and decide whether a person's race or ethnicity 

must be considered in assessing whether a person is in custody 

for purposes of receiving Miranda protection. Lewis seeks 

review under RAP 1 3.4(3) and (4). 
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The custody inquiry under Miranda asks whether "a 

reasonable person [ would] have felt he or she was not at liberty 

to terminate the interrogation and leave." Thompson v. 

Keohane, 5 1 6  U.S. 99, 1 1 2, 1 1 6 S. Ct. 457, 1 33 L. Ed. 2d 383 

( 1995). The seizure inquiry asks whether "an individual's 

freedom of movement is restrained and the individual would 

not believe [ they are] free to leave or decline a request due to an 

officer's use of force or display of authority." Sum, 1 99 Wn.2d 

at 636 (quoting State v. Rankin, 15 1  Wn.2d 689, 695, 92 P.3d 

202 (2004)). 

The seizure inquiry is an objective test. Sum, 199 Wn.2d 

at 63 1 .  The custody inquiry is likewise an objective test, asking 

"how a reasonable person in the suspect's position would have 

understood the circumstances." State v. Escalante, 195 Wn.2d 

526, 533, 46 1 P.3d 1 1 83 (2020). 

The seizure inquiry is based on the totality of the 

circumstances. Sum, 199 Wn.2d at 630-31 .  The custody 
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inquiry also examines the totality of circumstances. Escalante, 

195 Wn.2d at 533-34. 

In reaching its holding, Sum pointed out that, "when 

considering analogous issues relating to police encounters, the 

United States Supreme Court has held that objective 

demographic factors, such as a defendant's race and age, are 

relevant considerations." Sum, 199 Wn.2d at 64 1 -42 (emphasis 

added). Sum cited J.D.B. v. North Carolina, 564 U.S. 26 1,  265, 

1 3 1 S. Ct. 2394, 180 L. Ed. 2d 3 10  (20 1 1 )  as one such case, 

where age was relevant "to whether a minor was in custody for 

Miranda purposes." Sum, 199 Wn.2d at 642, 647. Sum thus 

recognized a person's race is no less an objective demographic 

factor than age and did so by analogizing to a Miranda case. A 

person's race in the Miranda context is no less an objective 

demographic factor than it is in the seizure context. 

In the Court of Appeals, Lewis argued race/ethnicity was a 

relevant consideration in determining custodial interrogation 

under both the Fifth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution and 
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article I, section 9 of the Washington Constitution, employing a 

Gunwall2 analysis for the latter. Brief of Appellant at 58-69. 

Lewis asks this Court to review his case to determine whether 

trial courts, taking GR 37 as a guide, must consider what a 

Black person would believe upon encountering the police, 

being aware that "implicit, institutional, and unconscious biases, 

in addition to purposeful discrimination, have resulted in 

disproportionate police contacts, investigative seizures, and 

uses of force against B IPOC in Washington." Sum, 199 Wn.2d 

at 653. 

The trial court concluded Lewis was not in custody and 

that his in-person statements to the detectives on September 20 

were admissible without Miranda warnings. lRP 369-71 ;  CP 

196. The court gave no consideration to Lewis's status as a 

Black man confronted by four white officers in making that 

determination. RP 220. A reasonable person in Lewis's shoes, 

in deciding whether he was free to terminate a police encounter 

2 State v. Gunwall, 106 Wn.2d 54, 67, 720 P.2d 808 ( 1986). 
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before answering any questions, must consider the danger that 

police disproportionately pose to Black men during 

investigatory encounters. 

The number of law enforcement officers present at the 

scene is another relevant circumstance. United States v. Masse, 

8 1 6  F.2d 805, 809 ( 1 st Cir. 1987). Here, there were not one but 

four officers present. RP 196-99, 203, 236, 257-58, 308. 

All four were armed with firearms. RP 264. The presence 

of weapons and especially whether they were drawn is another 

factor that can support custody. United States v. FNU LNU, 

653 F.3d 144, 153 (2d Cir. 20 1 1 ). Deputy Miner had his 

shotgun drawn, slung in a low ready position. RP 202-03. 

Police coaxed Lewis away from his home to be 

interrogated in isolation from others in the house. RP 266-68, 

3 18. "When a person who is not serving a prison term is 

questioned, isolation may contribute to a coercive atmosphere 

by preventing family members, friends, and others who may be 

sympathetic from providing either advice or emotional 
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support." Howes v. Fields, 565 U.S. 499, 5 12- 13, 1 32 S. Ct. 

1 18 1,  182 L. Ed. 2d 17  (20 1 2). 

A reasonable person under these circumstances, aware 

that encounters between Black men and the police 

disproportionately end in violence and death, would not feel 

free to resist the detective's request to talk for fear of 

engendering a violent response. Lewis was in custody under 

the totality of circumstances and he was interrogated without 

Miranda warnings, requiring suppression of his statements to 

police under the Fifth Amendment and article I, section 9. 

The error is not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. 

The State used Lewis's statements against him at trial. Lewis's 

statement that Amanda "should be at home" when asked if he 

knew her whereabouts, and his expression of surprise 

("Really?") when told she was out of town on business, 

supported the intent element of the crime. lRP 2002-03, 2782-

83; 2RP 63. To convict, the State needed to prove Lewis 

intended to cause Amanda's death rather than someone else's 
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death. CP 5 1 .  The State's theory was that Lewis intended to 

kill Amanda but ended up killing her sister by mistake. Lewis's 

statements provided evidentiary support for that theory, which 

the State exploited in closing argument. lRP 3639. 

3. Search warrants lacked probable cause and 

were overbroad, and the constitutional error in 

admitting evidence from them was not harmless 

beyond a reasonable doubt. 

Private information contained in electronic records has 

become ubiquitous. Without proper safeguards against police 

intrusion, the right to privacy is violated. This case presents an 

opportunity for this Court to erect a workable standard that 

protects against unlawful invasions of privacy when law 

enforcement searches vast troves of intimate electronic data 

through a warrant. Lewis seeks review under RAP 1 3.4(b)(3). 

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution 

and Article I, section 7 of the Washington Constitution "impose 

two requirements for search warrants that are 'closely 

intertwined."' State v. Higgs, 177 Wn. App. 4 14, 425, 3 1 1 P.3d 
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1 266 (20 1 3) (quoting State v. Perrone, 1 19 Wn.2d 538, 545, 

834 P.2d 6 1 1 ( 1 992)). 

First, a warrant must be supported by probable cause. 

Higgs, 177 Wn. App. at 425. Second, "the warrant must be 

sufficiently definite to allow the searching officer to identify the 

objects sought with reasonable certainty." State v. Nordlund, 

1 1 3 Wn. App. 17 1,  1 80, 53 P.3d 520 (2002). Therefore, a 

warrant can be overbroad "either because it fails to describe 

with particularity items for which probable cause exists, or 

because it describes, particularly or otherwise, items for which 

probable cause does not exist." State v. Maddox, 1 1 6 Wn. App. 

796, 805, 67 P.3d 1 1 35 (2003), affd, 152 Wn.2d 499, 98 P.3d 

1 199 (2004 ). A warrant is also overbroad if some portions are 

supported by probable cause and others are not. Id. at 806. 

The trial court erroneously concluded search warrants for 

Lewis's electronic records were valid and the exclusionary rule 

did not require suppression of the evidence. CP 173-74; lRP 

460-66. 
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First, the warrants lack probable cause because they do 

not establish a nexus between the crime and the place to be 

searched - Lewis's phone records, Facebook records, and 

Google records. See Brief of Appellant at 84-96, 1 1 3-25. 

"Absent a sufficient basis in fact from which to conclude 

evidence of illegal activity will likely be found at the place to 

be searched, a reasonable nexus [between the items to be seized 

and the place to be searched] is not established as a matter of 

law." State v. Thein, 1 38 Wn.2d 1 33, 147,977 P.2d 582 ( 1999). 

Second, the Fourth Amendment was adopted in response 

to "indiscriminate searches and seizures conducted under the 

authority of 'general warrants."' Payton v. New York, 445 U.S. 

573, 583, 100 S. Ct. 1 37 1,  63 L. Ed. 2d 639 ( 1980) (quoting 

Boyd v. United States, 1 1 6 U.S. 6 1 6, 625, 6 S. Ct. 524, 29 L. 

Ed. 746 ( 1 886)). The particularity requirement is designed to 

prevent "general, exploratory rummaging in a person's 

belongings." Andresen v. Maryland, 427 U.S. 463, 480, 96 S. 

Ct. 2737, 49 L. Ed. 2d 627 ( 1976). Where, as here, a search 
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warrant implicates materials protected by the First Amendment, 

"the degree of particularity demanded is greater" and must "'be 

accorded the most scrupulous exactitude." Stanford v. Texas, 

379 U.S. 476, 485, 85 S. Ct. 506, 1 3  L. Ed. 2d 431 ( 1965). 

The warrants for Lewis's phone, Facebook, Google and 

Snapchat records are so overbroad and so lacking in specificity 

that they violate the particularity requirement and constitute 

unlawful general warrants. They authorized police to seize 

everything or almost everything and then figure out later if 

anything of evidentiary significance was present in Lewis's 

Sprint cell phone and Facebook accounts for a three and a half 

month period, CP 636-37, 643-46, nearly two years worth of 

Google records, CP 742-43, 745, 752-53, and 1 6  months of 

Snapchat records, CP 894-95. The warrants permitted police to 

conduct an exploratory search of these records without adequate 

safeguards. See Brief of Appellant at 96- 1 1 3, 1 25-36. 

"The exclusionary rule mandates the suppression of 

evidence gathered through unconstitutional means." State v. 
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Duncan, 146 Wn.2d 1 66, 176, 43 P.3d 5 1 3  (2002). Evidence 

obtained from the warrants must be suppressed as fruit of the 

poisonous tree. 

The Court of Appeals concluded any error was harmless 

beyond a reasonable doubt. Slip op. at 26-27. It acknowledged 

some of the evidence obtained from the warrants was 

incriminating, "particularly Lewis's internet search for 'Panthers 

player who killed his wife' and the location information 

showing his phone moving together with Phelps and Hale at 

1 : 1 3  a.m. on September 20, 20 17, along with the phone being 

disabled during the time their vehicle left Lewis's residence and 

then returned to it." Slip op. at 27-28. The Google location 

records forced defense counsel in closing to concede that Lewis 

lied to police when he said he did not leave his residence that 

night, which a trier of fact could find to be evidence of 

consciousness of guilt. lRP 3668. The State argued to the jury 

that the internet search was evidence that Lewis was planning to 

kill his wife: "We already know he's thinking about hiring 
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someone for murder because of his Internet search on July the 

16th." lRP 3645-46. 

More than that, the Snapchat records revealed an August 

6, 2017 communication between Lewis and an unidentified 

third party in which Lewis said "If I need you to hide a body, 

you don't even have to ask questions" and "I'm being dead ass 

serious about the last one." Ex. 255A, 255B, 255C lRP 3308-

11. The State exploited this evidence in closing argument as 

evidence of murderous intent. lRP 3646-47. 

The bank records were used to show Lewis made 

multiple cash withdrawals and had money on hand to pay 

Phelps in cash. Ex. 39, 40, 272B; lRP 3398, 3402, 3410-15, 

3580 (Detective Betts's testimony), 3647, 3657-59 (State's 

closing). 

The State used evidence obtained from the search 

warrants to its benefit in successfully arguing for a guilty verdict. 

lRP 3642, 3645-47, 3649-51, 3681. The State bears the burden 

of proving this error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. 
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State v. Keodara, 19 1  Wn. App. 305, 3 17- 18, 364 P.3d 777 

(20 15). This standard is supposed to have some teeth to it. The 

State presented other incriminating evidence, but it was not so 

overwhelming that a guilty verdict was inevitable. 

4. The court committed reversible error in 

admitting Hale's hearsay statements about the 

killing. 

Hale did not testify at trial. Over defense counsel's hearsay 

objection, the trial court permitted witness Jillian Lee to relay 

out-of-court statements made to her by Hale in order to show 

how the investigation against Lewis got started. lRP 7 18-20, 

725-26, 776-77, 236 1 ;  CP 102-03. Lee testified she encountered 

Hale at a pool party in Spokane around August 20 18. lRP 

2422-24. Hale told Lee about a "murder plot," saying Phelps's 

uncle or cousin "wanted Phelps to "take his baby mama out" 

and offered him $ 10,000 to do it. lRP 2427-29, 2445-46. Hale 

said she was okay with it, they got ready, and used the gun Hale 

had. lRP 2428. Hale described events surrounding the 

shooting in some detail to Lee, including Hale's observation 
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that they killed the wrong person, the sister of the "baby 

mama." lRP 2428-32. Lee called the police and told them 

about what Hale told her at the party. lRP 2434. Detective 

Betts testified the sheriffs office received a tip from Lee, which 

prompted further investigation. lRP 3227-3 1 .  

An out-of-court statement offered to show why police 

acted as they did is hearsay unless the officer's state of mind is 

relevant to a fact at issue. State v. Rocha, 2 1  Wn. App. 2d 26, 

33, 504 P.3d 233 (2022). Detective Betts's state of mind did not 

make it more or less probable that Lewis committed the crime. 

Hale's statements, offered to explain why law enforcement was 

prompted to investigate Lewis, therefore have no relevance and 

are inadmissible hearsay. 

The Court of Appeals agreed Hale's hearsay statements to 

Lee about the murder should not have been admitted, but 

concluded their admission was harmless because "Phelps's 

testimony still would have placed nearly the same information 

before the jury." Slip op. at 3 1 -33. Standing alone, Phelps's 
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credibility was open to doubt because of his plea agreement 

with the State, which provided a basis to question his bias and 

motivation in testifying. State v. Farnsworth, 185 Wn.2d 768, 

782, 374 P.3d 1 1 52 (20 1 6). Hale's hearsay statements bolstered 

Phelps's credibility on a key point: whether Lewis hired them to 

kill Amanda. Improperly admitted but cumulative evidence 

may still be prejudicial where it reinforces the credibility of a 

testifying witness. Thomas v. French, 99 Wn.2d 95, 105, 659 

P.2d 1097 ( 1983). Lewis seeks review under RAP 1 3.4(b)(4). 

5. A detective expressed an impermissible opinion 

on Lewis's guilt. 

Lewis was identified as a suspect at the beginning of the 

investigation. 2RP 35-36. Detective Fagan testified about the 

acrimonious divorce between Lewis and Amanda and then 

stated: "When there is a homicide, you immediately look at 

people that are most direct to the victim. In this case would be 

Alicia Canales. It is the home of Amanda Lewis to see if they 

had motive or reason to carry this out. " 2RP 36. When asked 
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why it was common to do that, the detective answered "Like in 

a divorce there is a lot of emotion that is wrapped in that one 

way or another. Sometimes the emotions get the better of 

someone and causes them, in this case multiple times to lash 

those emotions out and have them killed or kill them." 2RP 36. 

Defense counsel objected to this testimony; the trial court found 

nothing wrong with it. 2RP 5 1 -54. 

"The right to have factual questions decided by the jury is 

crucial to the right to trial by jury." State v. Montgomery, 1 63 

Wn.2d 577, 590, 183 P.3d 267 (2008) (citing U.S. Const. 

amend. VI; Wash. Const. art. I, §§ 2 1,  22). "Opinions on guilt 

are improper whether made directly or by inference." State v. 

Ouaale, 182 Wn.2d 19 1,  199, 340 P.3d 2 1 3  (20 14). 

Impermissible opinion testimony "violates the defendant's 

constitutional right to a jury trial, which includes the 

independent determination of the facts by the jury." Id. 

The Court of Appeals agreed Pagan's testimony 

amounted to an improper opinion on guilt, but concluded the 
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error was harmless. Slip op. at 38-39. Improper op1mon 

testimony is an error of constitutional magnitude, and the State 

has the burden of proving harmlessness beyond a reasonable 

doubt. Ouaale, 182 Wn.2d at 20 1 -02. 

The Court of Appeals suggested counsel did not view the 

detective's opinion as significant. Slip op. at 39. In assessing 

prejudice, what matters is the effect on the jury, not counsel. 

"[W]hen a law enforcement officer gives opinion testimony, the 

jury is especially likely to be influenced by that testimony." 

State v. Demery. 144 Wn.2d 753, 762, 30 P.3d 1 278 (200 1 ). 

The State sought to impress the jury with the detective's 

experience with homicide investigations and why law 

enforcement targeted Lewis as a suspect. lRP 2765-66; 2RP 

36. It was in this context that Detective Fagan testified that 

Lewis emotionally lashed out during a divorce and killed his 

wife. The intent and solicitation elements of the murder charge 

were controverted. The detective's improper opinion struck at 

the heart of those elements. Reversal is required because the 
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error 1s presumed prejudicial and the State cannot prove 

otherwise beyond a reasonable doubt. Lewis seeks review 

under RAP 13 .4(b )(3). 

6. The court wrongly admitted evidence that 

Lewis psychologically abused his children. 

The visitation supervisor, Kathleen Westvold-Naekel, 

testified on direct examination that there was little interaction or 

display of affection during Lewis's September 19 visit with his 

children, which took place the night on which the shooting 

occurred. lRP 1682-87. On cross examination, defense counsel 

sought to paint a fuller picture by pointing out Lewis recorded 

his daughters dancing on video, offered encouragement, danced 

with them, played a game with his children, and exchanged 

hugs and kisses when the visit ended. lRP 1693-98. 

The State then argued defense counsel opened the door to 

further testimony that Lewis made his son cry and forced his 

daughter to eat mashed potatoes that her sister had spit out. 

lRP 1709-10. Over defense objection, the court ruled counsel 
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opened the door to this evidence. lRP 17 1 1 - 1 2. On redirect, 

the State elicited testimony that Lewis psychologically abused 

his children. lRP 17 15- 19. 

Generally speaking, "when a party opens up a subject of 

inquiry on direct or cross-examination, he contemplates that the 

rules will permit cross-examination or redirect examination, as 

the case may be, within the scope of the examination in which the 

subject matter was first introduced." State v. Gefeller, 76 Wn.2d 

449, 455, 458 P.2d 17  ( 1969) ( emphasis added). "The open door 

doctrine recognizes that a party can waive protection from a 

forbidden topic by broaching the subject. Should this happen, 

the opposing party is entitled to respond." State v. Rushworth, 

1 2  Wn. App. 2d 466, 473, 458 P.3d 1 192 (2020). 

The State baited the defense into responding when it 

presented a misleading picture to the jury through its strategic 

questioning of Westvold-Naekel on the subject of Lewis's 

interactions with his children on direct examination. The open 

door doctrine does not apply because it was the State that 

- 29 -



presented a misleading picture on a topic that it raised, forcing 

the defense to respond to right the balance. 

The Court of Appeals dispensed with the trial court's 

operative "open door" ruling in favor of upholding admission 

based on a pre-trial "res gestae" ruling that no one referenced or 

even remembered during trial. Slip op. at 2 1 -23. This is not 

the controlling ruling, as it was not put into effect at the time 

the evidence was admitted. 

But even if it were, the evidence was inadmissible as "res 

gestae" because its probative value was outweighed by its 

prejudicial effect under ER 403 and ER 404(b ). Compare State 

v. Powell, 1 26 Wn.2d 244, 263-64, 893 P.2d 6 15  ( 1995) ("res 

gestae" evidence subject to ER 404(b )) with State v. Briejer, 

172 Wn. App. 209, 225-26, 289 P.3d 698 (20 1 2) ("res gestae" 

evidence subject to ER 403, not ER 404(b)). 

There is no coherent theory that treating his kids badly 

showed Lewis intended to kill their mother that night. Still, the 

evidence elicited by the State on redirect made Lewis look like 
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a horrible father. In arguing for its admission, the prosecutor 

said "he's frankly engaging in verbal and psychological abusive 

conduct with his kids." lRP 17 10. That's precisely how the 

jury would see it. The evidence of child abuse here was of 

"scant or cumulative probative force, dragged in by the heels 

for the sake of its prejudicial effect." Carson v. Fine, 1 23 Wn.2d 

206, 223, 867 P.2d 6 10  ( 1994 (quoting United States v. Roark, 

753 F.2d 99 1,  994 ( 1 1 th Cir. 1985)). Lewis requests review 

under RAP 1 3.4(b)(4). 

7. The court's admission of prior acts of domestic 

violence under ER 404(b) violated Lewis's  right 

to a fair trial. 

When determining admissibility of evidence under ER 

404(b ), the trial court must determine whether the evidence is 

relevant to prove an element of the crime charged and weigh 

the probative value against its prejudicial effect. State v. 

Foxhoven, 1 6 1 Wn.2d 1 68, 175, 1 63 P.3d 786 (2007). 

Over defense objection, the court admitted evidence of 

prior assaults against Amanda under ER 404(b) - an uncharged 
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2009 assault and two second degree assaults that resulted in 

convictions from November 20 1 6  and June 20 17. CP 1 63-70, 

280-84, 285-306. The Court of Appeals affirmed on the basis 

that all three assaults were admissible to prove motive. Slip op. 

at 17. 

The 2009 assault was not admissible to show motive 

because it took place eight years before the charged crime. 

There were no assaults during the marriage from 2009 until 

November 20 1 6. lRP 1433-34, 153 1 .  The 2009 assault is too 

attenuated from the charged crime, as there is no continuous 

conduct showing a physically abusive relationship spanned the 

years. It cannot reasonably be maintained that because Lewis 

assaulted Amanda in 2008, he had a motive to kill her eight 

years later. 

Even where the State meets its burden to demonstrate a 

proper purpose, the court may admit evidence of a prior bad act 

"only when its probative value clearly outweighs its prejudicial 

effect." State v. Lough, 1 25 Wn.2d 847, 862, 889 P.2d ( 1995). 
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Evidence that Lewis assaulted Amanda, not once or twice, but 

three times may well have doomed Lewis's defense from the 

start because it made him look like the kind of bad person who 

would plan to kill his wife. To guard against the heightened 

prejudicial effect inherent in domestic violence cases, "we 

confine the admissibility of prior acts of domestic violence to 

cases where the State has established their overriding probative 

value, such as to explain a witness's otherwise inexplicable 

recantation or conflicting account of events." State v. 

Gunderson, 18 1  Wn.2d 9 1 6, 925, 337 P.3d 1090 (20 14). No 

such circumstance is present in Lewis's case. 

"When evidence is likely to stimulate an emotional 

response rather than a rational decision, a danger of unfair 

prejudice exists." Salas v. Hi-Tech Erectors, 1 68 Wn.2d 664, 

67 1,  230 P.3d 583 (20 10). Amanda was a sympathetic witness. 

Her sister was dead. The State accused Lewis of killing her in 

trying to kill Amanda. And Amanda herself was the victim of 

repeated assaults at the hands of a brutal husband. That is the 
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picture painted by the State for the jury to consider as it decided 

Lewis's fate. Under these circumstances, evidence of the prior 

assaults could not help but stimulate an emotional response. 

"Much like in cases involving sexual crimes, courts must 

be careful and methodical in weighing the probative value 

against the prejudicial effect of prior acts in domestic violence 

cases because the risk of unfair prejudice is very high." 

Gunderson, 18 1  Wn.2d at 925. The trial court, though, entered 

rote findings that "[t]he probative value of this evidence 

outweighs the prejudicial effect under ER 403." CP 1 64, 1 65, 

1 67. The court's oral rulings provide no further illumination. 

lRP 107-08, 1 10- 1 1 . This Court held long ago that "[w]ithout 

such balancing and a conscious determination made by the 

court on the record, the evidence is not properly admitted." 

State v. Tharp, 96 Wn.2d 59 1,597,637 P.2d 96 1 ( 198 1 ). 

Even if some evidence of the assaults was properly 

admitted, the court still erred in denying the defense motion to 

exclude photographic evidence of Amanda's injuries from the 
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201 6  and 20 17  assaults and in permitting Deputy Carlson to 

testify about his interaction with Amanda in connection with 

the 20 17  assault. CP 97-99; lRP 742-44, 748-49, 757-58. 

"The availability of other means of proof is a factor in 

deciding whether to exclude prejudicial evidence." State v. 

Johnson, 90 Wn. App. 54, 62, 950 P.2d 98 1 ( 1998). Amanda 

testified in detail about the assaults, including the injuries she 

sustained. lRP 1432-55, 1 496- 1504. Deputy Carlson testified 

about the June 20 17  assault, relaying his observations and 

Amanda's account. lRP 1 603- 1 2. The jury knew Lewis had 

been convicted of the 20 1 6  and 20 1 7 assaults. The judgment 

and sentence for those convictions was admitted into evidence. 

Ex. 27. There was no question the assaults happened, and that 

Lewis was responsible for them. Admitting and showing 

photos of Amanda's bloody and bruised body to the jury was 

gratuitous. Ex. 1 ,  6, 1 4-2 1 .  Their probative value was nil, but 

their prejudicial effect real. Gruesome photographs cause 

emotional reactions that even a limiting instruction may be 
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unable to cure. In re Pers. Restraint of Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d 

696, 7 10, n.4, 286 P.3d 673, 680 (20 1 2). Lewis requests review 

under RAP 1 3.4(b)(4). 

8. Cumulative error violated Lewis's due process 

right to a fair trial. 

The right to a fair trial is guaranteed by the due process 

clause of the federal constitution. Cone v. Bell, 556 U.S. 449, 

45 1,  1 29 S. Ct. 1 769, 173 L. Ed. 2d 70 1 (2009); U.S. Const. 

amend. XIV. Under the cumulative error doctrine, a defendant 

is entitled to a new trial when it is reasonably probable that 

errors, even though individually not reversible error, 

cumulatively produce an unfair trial by affecting the outcome. 

State v. Coe, 10 1  Wn.2d 772, 788-89, 684 P.2d 668 ( 1984); 

Parle v. Runnels, 505 F.3d 922, 927 (9th Cir. 2007). 

An accumulation of errors affected the outcome and 

produced an unfair trial here. These errors include ( 1 )  lack of 

lesser offense instruction, section D. 1 ., supra; (2) Miranda error 

(section D.2., supra); (3) warrant error (section D.3., supra); (4) 
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hearsay error (section D.4., supra); (5) improper opinion on 

guilt (section D.5., supra); (6) open door/res gestae error 

(section D.6., supra); (7) ER 404(b) error (section D.7., supra). 

Lewis seeks review under RAP 1 3.4(b)(3). 

F. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons stated, Lewis respectfully requests that 

this Court grant review. 

I certify that this document was prepared using word 

processing software and contains 6090 words excluding 

those portions exempt under RAP 18.17. 
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D IVIS ION ONE  

U N PU BL ISHED OP IN ION 

B IRK, J .  - Kevin Lewis appeals h is convict ion for agg ravated fi rst deg ree 

mu rder .  The State's theory was that Lewis h i red h is cous in  Jerradon Phe lps to ki l l  

h is wife Amanda Canales , and  that Phe lps ,  together with h is  g i rlfriend Alexis Ha le ,  

m istaken ly k i l led Canales's s ister A l isha Canales-McGu i re .  Lewis argues the tr ial 

cou rt erred in making certa i n  evident iary ru l i ngs ,  denyi ng h is motion to suppress 

statements he contends were adm itted in v io lat ion of M i randa v.  Arizona ,  384 U . S .  

436 , 8 6  S .  Ct. 1 602 , 1 6  L .  Ed . 2 d  694 ( 1 966) , denyi ng h is motion to suppress 

evidence obta i ned th rough search warrants he contends vio lated the Fourth 

Amendment to the Un ited States Constitution , fa i l i ng to g ive a l im it ing i nstruct ion 

concern ing certa in  evidence under ER 404(b) , refus ing h is proposed lesser 

i ncluded offense instruct ion on fi rst deg ree manslaughter ,  and denyi ng h is motion 

to d ism iss for governmenta l  m iscond uct under CrR 8 . 3(b) . Lewis fu rther asserts 

cumu lative error ,  i neffective ass istance of counse l , and error in a l ifet ime no-
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contact order prohibiting contact with his children. We affirm Lewis's conviction 

and remand for the trial court to consider the impact of the no-contact order on 

Lewis's fundamental right to parent. 

The State presented the fo llowing evidence at tria l .  

Lewis and Canales were married i n  2009, and subsequently had three 

children together. Canales moved out of Lewis's home in February 201 7  and 

moved into a duplex in Everett. Canales's new residence was about a 1 O minute 

drive from Lewis's home. In June 201 7, Lewis called Canales and tried to convince 

her to come back. Canales testified that during the phone cal l ,  she declined to go 

back, which made Lewis angry: 

[Canales] And then he said, "Come back or else . "  
[The State] And when he said, "Come back or else," what 

did you say? 
[Canales] I sa id, "Or else what?" And then he said, "Or else 

I 'm going to take you to court and get custody of the kids and alimony 
and child support. And if I don't get it, I 'm going to kil l you ."  

[The State] And what did you say when he said that? 
[Canales] And I said, "What?" And he said, "You heard me. 

I 'm going to fucking ki l l  you." 

Concerned Lewis could be serious, Canales reported the call to the police. On 

June 20, 201 7, Lewis appeared unannounced at Canales's house, very early in 

the morning. Canales called the police. 

Canales obtained a protection order that included the couple's three 

children. The order was served on Lewis on June 29, 201 7.  The order was 

reissued three times. Lewis later appeared at Canales's residence again ,  yelling 

at a friend of Canales's who was instal l ing survei l lance cameras at Canales's 
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home. On July 25, 201 7,  Abigail Ruggles, the family's live in nanny, reported after 

having gone to Lewis's home to retrieve some of her belongings that Lewis asked 

her to "[t]ell that bitch [Canales] that none of the stuff in the house was hers." 

During this period, Lewis had contact with his children though supervised 

visitations. The family used A Kat's Eye Supervised Visitation Services. 

On July 28, 201 7,  Lewis filed a petition for dissolution and requested child 

support, spousal support, and custody of the children. On August 23, 201 7, the 

family court entered temporary orders in which it denied Lewis's requests and 

ordered Lewis to pay Canales child support. The fami ly court ordered that the 

children live with Canales. 

Kathleen Westvold-Naekel worked as a supervised visitation provider for A 

Kat's Eye Supervised Visitation Services. Westvold-Naekel first supervised visits 

for the fami ly on August 30, 201 7. Per visitation protocol ,  Canales would drop off 

the children down the street from Lewis's home, out of the line of sight from the 

home. Canales testified Lewis "had to stay inside the home during this time period 

of the drop-off and pickup." 

On September 1 9 , 201 7, Canales was out of town on a business trip. 

Canales's sister, Canales-McGuire, helped Ruggles take care of the children while 

Canales was gone. That evening, Ruggles and Canales-McGuire dropped the 

children off at Lewis's for a supervised visitation .  The visit was scheduled for 6 : 1 5 

to 8 : 1 5  p .m.  Westvold-Naekel was the visitation supervisor. Westvold-Naekel 

testified that during the visit, Lewis's behavior was different than it had been on 

August 30. During the September 1 9  visit, "there was very little interaction .  [Lewis] 
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was present physically. The verbal communication between him and the children 

was for the most part lacking, nonexistent." Westvold-Naekel fe lt "[v]ery 

uncomfortable" during the visit and had "a gut feeling there was something" 

different about the visit. Westvold-Naekel observed Lewis on his phone 

consistently throughout the evening. She could 

hear a vibration constantly throughout the night. And he would be 
responding. He would be texting or replying to whatever it was that 
was on his phone. I did not see. The phone took precedence that 
visit. That was the-that seemed to be the sole focus of that visit for 
[Lewis]. 

Westvold-Naekel documented the visit ending at 8: 1 3  p .m.  

After picking up the children, Ruggles and Canales-McGuire drove back to 

Canales' home and got the children ready for bed . Lewis's and Canales's 

daughters slept in a bedroom upstairs. Their son slept on a couch in the living 

room, down the hall from the front door. Ruggles went to bed around midnight. 

Ruggles testified she woke up to "some loud pops and a crash" on the morning of 

September 20. Ruggles went downstairs and came around the corner of the 

banister and saw Canales-McGuire's body on the floor and a stream of blood . After 

turning on the lights, Ruggles ran upstairs to get her cell phone to call 91 1 .  

Ruggles's 91 1 call was received at 1 :55 a .m.  After "[l]ess than 1 O minutes," the 

police arrived on scene. 

Based on evidence at the crime scene, law enforcement concluded 

Canales-McGuire was shot when the door was partially open, and the shooter fired 

at least seven shots, which originated from the exterior of the residence and came 

into the interior. Four recovered bullets were consistent with a nine mil l imeter 
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Luger. The seven fired cartridge cases were identified as having been fired from 

the same firearm . The evidence at the scene was consistent with someone firing 

shots, then moving towards the door of the house and firing again inside the door. 

The medical examiner, Daniel Selove MD,  identified the cause of death as 

multiple gunshot wounds to the head and trunk. Canales-McGuire was struck by 

five shots. Two of the wounds showed gunpowder stippling injury. Dr. Selove 

testified he could not determine the sequence of the five shots, but opined the last 

two gunshot wounds to the head with stippling were likely the last two injuries 

inflicted. The State asked Dr. Selove whether the gunshot wounds could have 

been inflicted in a particu lar sequence: 

[The State] Dr. Selove, with regards to both your findings 
and your observations both at the scene and during autopsy, 
hypothetically if a person that committed the murder said that they 
fired from outside the residence and then moved towards the front 
door, shooting with the gun either just beyond the threshold of the 
doorway or having stepped into the doorway to fire the final shots, 
would that be consistent or inconsistent with your findings based on 
your training and experience as a medical examiner? 

[Dr. Selove] That description of the scenario is consistent 
with my findings. 

[The State] Can you tell us why? 
[Dr. Selove] Because not only would firing inside the 

doorway account for the two casings in the foyer near the body but 
also for two closer-distance range-of-fire gunshots that I observed on 
the head . 

Dr. Selove further testified that before the shots to the head and with only the three 

shots to the chest, if those three shots occurred first, Canales-McGuire could sti l l  

make deliberate conscious movement. 

Snohomish County Sheriff's Office Detectives Eric Fagan and Brad 

Walvatne were assigned to contact Lewis to see if he had information about the 
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shooting. They sought to contact Lewis because they learned he was Canales's 

"ex," he was the father of the children in the house, and there had been previous 

incidents involving Canales and Lewis. They contacted Lewis at 5:05 a .m .  Lewis 

answered the door wearing a white tank top.  

Near Lewis's home, detectives located two neighboring houses with exterior 

cameras. One camera showed that at 1 :1 O a .m .  that morning, a light colored 

vehicle approached Lewis's house , and at 1 : 1 2  a .m.  a person exited Lewis's 

residence and got in the vehicle, and it left. The person appeared to be wearing a 

l ight-colored top.  At that time, the residents of Lewis's household included Lewis, 

his mother, his sister, and a renter, Alexander Darel l .  At 1 :34 a .m .  the same 

vehicle returned, and at 1 :37 a .m.  a person exited the car and entered Lewis's 

residence, and the vehicle left again. The camera from the other neighboring 

house showed that the car appeared to be missing the front passenger hubcap. 

Law enforcement received a tip from J i l l ian Lee . Lee told detectives that a 

person she knew as "Angie," later identified as Alexis Hale, told her at a party that 

she had been hired to kill someone. Hale implicated Phelps, a mutual friend of 

Lee's, saying he had an "uncle" who had offered to pay them .  

Public Face book information revealed that Phelps and Lewis were cousins. 

Cell phone records showed that on September 1 9-20, 201 7, Phelps's cell phone 

traveled from "his residence across the mountains to within about 6/1 oths of a mi le 

of the scene of the murder and at the time of the murder, and then traveled back 

to his house in Spokane." Social media records showed Phelps and Hale together 

in Spokane at 4:27 p .m.  Phelps's phone's last data session in Spokane was at 
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8 : 36 p . m .  At 1 1  : 04 p . m . ,  h is  phone used a ce l l  s ite on I nterstate 90 that was 1 57 

m i les from Spokane.  At 1 2 :00 a . m .  h is phone used ce l l  s ites at Snoqua lm ie Pass . 

At 1 2 :49 p . m . , Hale created a Snapchat 1 video at s igns for exit 1 4  on I nterstate 

405 i n  Bel levue .  Snohom ish County Detective Tedd Betts testified the fastest 

est imated Goog le2 d rive t ime from that locat ion on I nterstate 405 to Lewis's 

res idence was 22 m inutes , which wou ld project arriva l at Lewis's res idence at 1 : 1 1 

a . m .  

Sheriff's deputies canvassed local bus i nesses for poss ib le video evidence .  

They co l lected video from a bus i ness at the i nte rsect ion of G ibson Road and 

H ighway 99 .  Th is was "d i rectly on the Goog le recommended route" from Lewis's 

res idence to Cana les's res idence .  Th is video showed a car appearing to be the 

same car shown near Lewis's res idence based on a darker appeari ng front 

passenger wheel . The car passed the i ntersect ion at 1 : 2 1  a . m .  It passed aga in  at 

1 :44 a . m .  

Phe lps's phone used a ce l l  s ite near Cana les's res idence at 1 : 5 3  a . m .  and 

1 : 54 a . m .  The usage was for data sess ions ,  which wou ld be consistent with us ing 

a mapping prog ram . The same car shown i n  the earl ier described videos passed 

at the i ntersect ion of H ighway 99 and G ibson Road aga in  at 2 : 04 a . m . ,  com ing 

from a d ifferent d i rection ,  but trave l i ng  towards the scene of  the incident .  The 

veh icle passed aga in  at 2 : 08 a . m . ,  retu rn ing to H ighway 99 from the west on 

G ibson Road . Ha le's phone used a ce l l  s ite at 2 : 1 8  a . m .  near I nterstate 405 j ust 

1 Snapchat is a cel l  phone app s im i lar  to text messag ing . 
2 Goog le is a search eng ine with a mapp ing function that i nc ludes d rive t ime 

i nformation .  
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north of Highway 522. Using Google maps, Betts estimated driving from Highway 

99 and Gibson Road to that location on Interstate 405 would typically take 1 2  

minutes. Phelps's phone used several sites in the Bellevue area at 2:28 a .m.  This 

was an estimated 1 O minutes' travel time from the location where Hale's phone 

used the cell site earlier. Hale's Snapchat account contained a video taken at 3:47 

a .m .  showing Phelps in a car fanning a number of one hundred dollar bills. 

Phelps agreed to testify against Lewis in exchange for a reduction of his 

aggravated first degree murder charge to first degree murder with a firearm 

enhancement. Phelps testified Lewis reached out to him to see if Phelps knew an 

"OG," or "original gangster," who could do something for h im.  Phelps "thought that 

[Lewis] was asking me if I knew anybody who would kill somebody for h im." Lewis 

offered to pay $1 ,200.00. Phelps told Lewis he would look around, but he also 

offered to do it h imself. Phelps testified Lewis did not seem to think that Phelps 

"doing it myself' was "sufficient enough," or that Phelps was "qual ified enough." 

After discussing that a second person should be involved,  Lewis "put another price 

out there, said [$]2,400." Phelps was dating Hale at the time and told her about 

Lewis's offer. Phelps testified that Hale was more than will ing to accompany him 

on the trip and that she provided him with a firearm . Hale's mother testified she 

had purchased a nine mil l imeter gun that had gone missing. She identified trial 

exhibit 248 as the gun she had purchased. Phelps testified he told Lewis he found 

another individual and a gun for the job. 

Phelps and Hale drove to Lewis's address. When they arrived, Lewis came 

outside and got into the backseat. Lewis directed Phelps to Canales's home, and 
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pointed out which door was hers. Lewis showed Phelps a photo of the intended 

target. On the way back to Lewis's house, Lewis gave Phelps an envelope of 

money amounting to "24" in old and new $1 00 dollar bil ls, and some $20 bills. 

Darell, Lewis's renter, testified Lewis had informed Darell he had a room available, 

and Darell had started renting from Lewis on August 1 ,  201 7,  paying $550.00 per 

month in cash. Phelps testified Hale had asked beforehand whether children 

would be present in the home, and at Phelps's inquiry Lewis confirmed children 

would be in the home. 

After dropping Lewis back at his residence, Phelps and Hale went back to 

the location that Lewis had pointed out. The two exited the vehicle and walked 

towards the home. Phelps stopped next to the garage while Hale walked to the 

front door. As a woman opened the front door, Hale walked off and Phelps fired 

the gun until it was empty. Phelps fired the first few shots from his position near 

the garage, and fired the last couple after walking up to the front porch. The muzzle 

of the gun crossed the threshold. The last couple of shots were around the neck 

and head area. Phelps and Hale left in their car, but then returned. They believed 

they might have left a glove at the scene, and went back for it. When they returned, 

they saw police cars, so they turned around and left. They accessed GPS 

directions and drove back to Spokane. 

Phelps testified that once he completed the murder, " I  wasn't supposed to 

message him afterwards. There was no contact supposed to be made . So, you 

know, I was supposed to post something on my Story-Snapchat Story-that 

basically was like a symbol ling message like 'I did it' kind of thing." Phelps testified 
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he cou ld not remember when ,  but at some point " [m]uch later" after the murder ,  

Lewis contacted Phe lps via Snapchat stati ng , " 'They are watch ing me . '  " Phe lps 

to ld Lewis not to te l l ,  to which Lewis responded , " 'Never i n  a m i l l ion years . ' " 

I I  

The tria l  cou rt adm itted other evidence ,  several categories of which Lewis 

asserts were error. As to these categories , we conc lude either the tria l  cou rt d id 

not err, or  any error was harm less . 

A 

Lewis asserts the tr ial cou rt shou ld have suppressed statements he made 

i n  the absence of M i randa warn ings .  When Fagan and Walvatne contacted Lewis 

at h is res idence the morn i ng of the shooting , Walvatne informed Lewis there had 

been a shooti ng at Cana les's house .  They had a conversat ion i n  which Lewis 

stated that he was home al l n ight .  When asked if he knew where Canales was , 

Lewis answered , " 'She shou ld be at home' " and expressed su rprise when 

i nformed she was not. Fagan testified Lewis d id not i nqu i re about h is ch i l d ren .  

The  State offered these statements a t  tria l . Lewis argues the tria l  cou rt erred by 

concl ud ing  he was not i n  custody when he made these statements . 

The tria l  cou rt held a pretria l  C rR 3 . 5  hearing . The morn i ng of the shooti ng , 

Fagan and Walvatne went to Lewis's res idence a long with Snohomish County 

Deputies Jeffrey M i ner and Wi l l iam B inkley. The detectives asked the deputies to 

approach Lewis's res idence with them as deta i led secur ity .  Fagan testified that 

because he and Walvatne were i n  unmarked cloth ing , it was necessary to have 
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patrol deputies on scene so individuals would know the detectives were law 

enforcement. 

Miner went to a neighbor's porch while the two detectives approached the 

front door. Binkley stood in the front yard area, about 20 feet behind the detectives. 

All four officers were carrying their duty-issued handguns in their  ho lsters. Miner 

also carried a patrol rifle. Miner testified the rifle stayed in a "low ready position .  

So i t  would be pointed, swung on your person ,  and pointed at the ground. It is 

ready to be used, but it is not pointing at anything but the ground." Walvatne 

knocked on the front door multiple times. After a minute or two , Lewis opened the 

door. When Lewis answered the door, Darell appeared behind h im.  Walvatne 

advised Lewis he wanted to talk to him privately and Lewis offered to step outside. 

When Lewis was on the front patio, Walvatne advised Lewis that he was not under 

arrest. Walvate asked Lewis if he would be wil l ing to walk to his work truck to talk 

private ly, and Lewis agreed. 

As the detectives and Lewis walked to Walvatne's truck, Miner fo llowed 

behind to continue security detail. While walking, Lewis made statements 

expressing surprise that Canales had not been home that night. 

When the two detectives and Lewis arrived at the truck, Lewis sat in the 

front passenger seat, Fagan sat in the seat behind h im,  and Walvatne sat in the 

driver's seat. Miner and Binkley returned to their patrol vehicles. Inside the 

vehicle, Walvatne advised Lewis he was not under arrest and was free to leave. 

Walvatne told Lewis that he was potentially identified as a witness in the case 

because of previous h istory between him and Canales. Lewis asked Walvatne if 
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he needed a lawyer, to which Walvatne stated he cou ld not g ive lega l  advice .  

Walvatne asked Lewis whether or  not he was home the previous n ight , and Lewis 

confi rmed he was home.  When asked whether he wou ld  be wi l l i ng  to provide a 

statement to answer add it ional  questions ,  Lewis rep l ied , " 'That is someth ing I 

m ight need a lawyer for. ' " Walvatne to ld Lewis he was free to leave . Lewis 

opened the truck door ,  exited the veh icle , and walked away. Fagan testified that 

Lewis sat i n  the truck for " rough ly five m i nutes . '' 

The tria l  cou rt ru led Lewis was not i n  custody for pu rposes of M i randa ,  nor 

was he subjected to a custod ia l  i nterrogation . We ag ree . 

The F ifth Amendment states that "No pe rson . . .  sha l l  be compel led i n  any 

crim ina l  case to be a witness aga inst h imse lf. " U . S  CONST .  amend . V. Whether a 

person is i n  custody for pu rposes of M i randa is reviewed de nova . State v. Lorenz,  

1 52 Wn .2d 22 , 36 ,  93 P . 3d 1 33 (2004) . A custody determ inat ion is an objective 

test that asks whether a reasonable person i n  the suspect's posit ion wou ld fee l  

restra i ned to the deg ree associated with formal  arrest. State v .  Escalante , 1 95 

Wn .2d 526 , 533-34 , 46 1 P . 3d 1 1 83 (2020) . Cou rts must examine the question 

based upon the tota l ity of the c i rcumstances. kl "Relevant c i rcumstances may 

inc lude the natu re of the surround i ngs ,  the extent of po l ice control over the 

surround ings ,  the degree of phys ical  restra int p laced on the suspect ,  and the 

du ration and character of the question i ng . "  kl at 534 . "An i nvestigative encounter 

with a suspect based on reasonable susp ic ion not amount ing to probable cause 

does not req u i re M i randa warn ings . '' State v .  France ,  1 2 1 Wn . App .  394 ,  399 ,  88 

P . 3d 1 003 (2004) . 
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Detectives fi rst i nteracted with Lewis on the front porch of h is home. After 

be ing asked to speak private ly with detectives , Lewis offered to step outs ide .  

Walvatne advised Lewis he was not under arrest and asked i f  the th ree cou ld 

speak ins ide Walvatne's truck. Neither detective to ld Lewis he was requ i red to go 

to the veh ic le ;  i nstead , Walvatne assu red Lewis he was not under arrest and he 

d id not have to speak with them . I ns ide the truck, Walvatne to ld Lewis he was not 

under arrest and was free to leave . After approximate ly five m i nutes in  the veh icle , 

Lewis term inated the conversation .  Lewis was never phys ica l ly restra i ned . G iven 

the tota l ity of the c i rcumstances , a reasonable person i n  Lewis's posit ion wou ld not 

fee l  restra i ned to the deg ree associated with formal  arrest. 

Lewis add it iona l ly asks th is cou rt to " i nterpret art icle I ,  sect ion 9 of the 

Wash ington Constitut ion separate from the F ifth Amendment and hold that art icle 

I ,  sect ion 9 req u i res courts to consider the race and ethn icity of the suspect 

amongst the tota l ity of the c i rcumstances i n  determ in i ng whether that person was 

subject to a custod ia l  i nterrogation . "  Lewis argues the tr ial cou rt erred in not 

i ncorporat ing Lewis's experiences as a B lack man i nto the context of a custod ia l  

i nterrogation eval uation . Al l fou r  officers respond i ng to Lewis's res idence were 

wh ite .  Art icle I ,  section 9 of the Wash ington constitut ion states in  re levant part , 

"No person sha l l  be compel led i n  any crim ina l  case to g ive evidence agai nst 

h imse lf. " Lewis asks the court to engage in an ana lys is under State v .  Gunwa l l ,  

1 06 Wn .2d 54 , 720 P .2d 808  ( 1 986) to support th is argument .  

Lewis poi nts to State v .  Sum ,  where the court held that i n  determ in i ng 

"whether a person has been seized by law enforcement for pu rposes of art icle I ,  
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sect ion 7 of the Wash ington Constitution [ , ]  'a l l  the c i rcumstances' of the encounter 

i ncludes the race and ethn icity of the a l leged ly seized person . "  1 99 Wn .2d 627,  

630 ,  5 1 1 P . 3d 92 (2022) . Exp la i n i ng the seizure i nqu i ry under art icle I ,  sect ion 7 ,  

the court said , " [W]h i le it is true that there is no un iform l ife experience or 

perspective shared by a l l  peop le of co lor ,  heightened pol ice scruti ny of the B I POC 

[B lack, I nd igenous,  and other People of Color] commun ity is certa in ly common 

enough to estab l ish that race and ethn icity have at  least some re levance to the 

question of whether a person was seized . "  kl at 647 . Taki ng gu idance from GR 

37 ,  the court exp la i ned that the objective i nqu i ry for whether a seizu re has occu rred 

tu rns on whether an "objective observer cou ld conclude" the person was not free 

to leave , havi ng awareness that " imp l ic it ,  i nstitutiona l ,  and unconscious b iases , i n  

add it ion to pu rposefu l d iscrim i nation , have resu lted i n  d isproport ionate po l ice 

contacts , i nvestigative seizu res , and uses of force aga inst B I POC i n  Wash ington . "  

kl at 653 . 

The Supreme Court held i n  State v. Earls , 1 1 6 Wn .2d 364 , 377-78 ,  805 P .2d 

2 1 1 ( 1 99 1 ) ,  State v. Franco ,  96 Wn .2d 8 1 6 , 829 , 639 P .2d 1 320 ( 1 982) , abrogated 

on other grounds by State v. Sandho lm , 1 84 Wn .2d 726 , 364 P . 3d 87 (20 1 5) ,  and 

State v .  Moore ,  79 Wn .2d 5 1 , 57 , 483  P .2d 630  ( 1 97 1 )  that art icle I ,  sect ion 9 i s  

coextens ive with the F ifth Amendment. Th i s  i s  b i nd i ng on th i s  cou rt .  Add it iona l ly ,  

if we were to app ly the framework of Sum and GR 37 ,  Lewis does not i nd icate how 

th is record shows an aware objective observer cou ld  conclude under the Sum 

framework that Lewis was i n  custody to the deg ree associated with formal arrest . 

I n  Sum ,  a po l ice officer, based on h is knowledge of months-ear l ier events i n  the 
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"area , "  i nd icated he was alerted to Sum's veh icle " 'because it was parked there . ' " 

1 99 Wn .2d at 632 . The officer approached the veh icle because the d river was 

" 's l umped over , ' " wh ich ca l led for " 'a social contact. ' " kl I n  th is case , po l ice 

were invest igati ng a hom icide to which Lewis 's name was connected th rough past 

domestic response cal ls .  Recogn iz ing the fou r  officers were wh ite and Lewis was 

B lack, the natu re of the po l ice i nqu i ry was much more specific than i n  Sum .  It was 

also less coercive . I n  Sum ,  the officer made contact with the d river and 

immed iate ly began question ing Sum .  kl at 633 .  Here ,  officers knocked and 

advised Lewis he was not under arrest and cou ld  decl ine to speak with them . After 

speaki ng with the detectives i ns ide the truck for five m inutes , Lewis term inated the 

conversation .  Lewis showed he  subjective ly appreciated h is option to term inate 

the conversat ion by do ing so ,  and h is  do ing so was respected . The tria l  cou rt d id 

not err i n  denyi ng Lewis's motion to suppress the statements he made on 

September 20 ,  20 1 7 . 

B 

Lewis asserts the tr ial cou rt erred by not excl ud i ng under ER 404(b) th ree 

assau lts he had committed agai nst Cana les , two of which resu lted in conviction . 

We d isag ree . 

The fi rst assau lt occu rred i n  2009 . Lewis h it Canales on the s ide of her 

head , which i nj u red her ear .  Canales said heari ng was d ifficu lt for about two 

weeks . The second assau lt occu rred i n  November 20 1 6 ,  when Lewis punched 

Cana les i n  the face . Canales susta i ned a swol len eye , two broken teeth , and had 

vis ion issues for a few months after. The fi na l  assau lt occu rred i n  J une 20 1 7 . 
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Cana les was gett ing out of her veh icle when she was h it on the head repeated ly, 

at least 50 t imes .  Lewis was convicted of the latter two assau lts . 

The State made a pretria l  motion to adm it evidence of these th ree assau lts 

aga inst Cana les (among other evidence of other acts) to prove motive , i ntent , 

absence of m istake , and common scheme or p lan . The tria l  cou rt found ( 1 )  the 

events occu rred by a preponderance of the evidence ,  (2) the adm iss ib le pu rposes 

were to show motive , opportun ity ,  i ntent, common scheme, or p lann i ng ,  (3) the 

evidence was re levant to prove i ntent because " Lewis is denyi ng i nvolvement in 

what is clearly a crime , "  and (4) the probative va lue outweighed the prejud ic ia l  

effect of the evidence .  

U nder ER 404(b) , evidence of  other crimes, wrongs ,  or acts is i nadm iss ib le 

to prove character to show act ion i n  conform ity therewith . However, the ru le does 

not bar evidence for another pu rpose , p rovided that it is re levant and its probative 

va lue outweighs the danger of unfa i r  p rej ud ice .  State v. Gresham , 1 73 Wn .2d 405 , 

420 ,  269 P . 3d 207 (20 1 2) .  To adm it evidence of a crim ina l  defendant's prior 

m iscond uct ,  " the tria l  cou rt must ( 1 ) fi nd by a preponderance of the evidence that 

the m isconduct occu rred , (2) identify the pu rpose for which the evidence is sought 

to be introduced , (3) determ ine whether the evidence is re levant to prove an 

element of the crime charged , and (4) weigh the probative va lue agai nst the 

prejud ic ia l  effect . "  State v .  Vy Thang , 1 45 Wn .2d 630, 642 , 41 P . 3d 1 1 59 (2002) . 
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We review a tria l  cou rt's determ inat ion to adm it or  excl ude evidence for an 

abuse of d iscretion . State v .  Foxhoven ,  1 6 1 Wn .2d 1 68 ,  1 74 ,  1 63 P . 3d 786 (2007) . 

An abuse of d iscret ion occu rs when a tria l  cou rt's ru l i ng  is based on untenable 

g rounds or made for untenable reasons.  kl 

The tria l  cou rt found motive to be one of the adm iss ib le pu rposes for the 

evidence .  Motive "goes beyond ga in  and can demonstrate an impu lse, des i re ,  or 

any other movi ng power which causes an i nd ivid ua l  to act . "  State v .  Powe l l ,  1 26 

Wn .2d 244 , 259 ,  893 P .2d 6 1 5 ( 1 995) . "Evidence of previous quarre ls and i l l  

fee l i ng  is adm iss ib le to show motive . "  State v .  Hoyer, 1 05 Wash . 1 60 ,  1 63 ,  1 77 P .  

683  ( 1 9 1 9) .  The  evidence must be  "of consequence to the act ion to  j ustify its 

adm ission . "  Powe l l ,  1 26 Wn .2d at 260 . Prior m isconduct evidence that 

demonstrates motive is of consequence to the act ion i n  a case where estab l ish ing 

motive is necessary and on ly c i rcumstant ia l p roof of  gu i lt exists . kl 

Lewis concedes " it is understandable why the tria l  cou rt identified motive as 

a pu rpose of adm ission for the November 20 1 6  and June 20 1 7  assau lts . "  Motive 

is also a proper pu rpose for adm ission of the 2009 assau lt together with the later 

assau lts . Evidence of the th ree prior assau lts tended to support Lewis's particu lar  

motive to harm Cana les and the h istory of host i l ity between them . Cf. Powe l l ,  1 26 

Wn .2d at 260 (hold ing prior assau lts adm iss ib le to show motive for murder) .  

Because motive pu rpose i s  " a  proper basis" for the evidence to be  adm itted under 

ER 404(b) , we need not reach the other pu rposes identified by the tria l  cou rt .  Cf. 

id . at 259 .  
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The evidence also was not unfa i rly prejud ic ia l compared to its probative 

va lue .  U nfa i r  p rejud ice is caused by evidence that tends to  arouse an emotiona l ,  

i rrationa l , or  confused response from the trier of fact . See State v. Rice ,  48 Wn . 

App .  7 ,  1 3 , 737 P .2d 726 ( 1 987) . However, p roper evidence wi l l  not be excl uded 

because it may also tend to show that the defendant comm itted another crime 

un re lated to the one charged . Powe l l ,  1 26 Wn .2d at 264 . The tr ia l  cou rt has broad 

d iscret ion in making this determ inat ion and its ru l i ng  is reviewed for an abuse of 

d iscretion .  State v .  Bel l ,  60 Wn . App .  56 1 , 565 , 805 P .2d 8 1 5 ( 1 99 1 ) . 

The prior assau lts were probative . The State needed to prove Lewis 

i ntended to ki l l  Canales.  Evidence of prior assau lts exp la i ned Lewis and Cana les's 

previous re lationsh ip .  Add it iona l ly ,  the tr ia l  cou rt properly weighed the prej ud ice 

of the th ree prior assau lts agai nst the i r  p robative va lue i n  its decis ion to adm it the 

evidence .  The assau lts were not comparable to the charged agg ravated fi rst 

deg ree murder ,  so any unfa i r  p rej ud ice i n  suggesti ng act ion i n  conform ity with the 

earl ier assau lts was m in ima l .  The tr ial cou rt heard extens ive argument from the 

parties and concluded the probative va lue of the evidence was not outweighed by 

its unfa i rly prejud ic ia l  effect .  The tr ial cou rt d id not abuse its d iscret ion in adm itt ing 

the evidence .  

Lewis re lated ly argues the  tria l  cou rt erred i n  fa i l i ng to  g ive a l im it ing 

instruct ion for th is and other ER 404(b) evidence .  We d isag ree . If evidence of a 

defendant's other crimes , wrongs ,  or  acts is adm iss i b le for a proper pu rpose , the 

defendant is entit led to a l im it ing i nstruct ion on request . State v .  Russe l l ,  1 7 1 

Wn .2d 1 1 8 ,  1 24 ,  249 P . 3d 604 (20 1 1 ) . An adequate ER 404(b) l im it ing i nstruct ion 
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must, at a m i n imum ,  i nform the j u ry of the pu rpose for which the evidence is 

adm itted and that the evidence may not be used for the pu rpose of concl ud i ng that 

the defendant has a particu lar character and has acted i n  conformity with that 

character. Cf. State v. Lough ,  1 25 Wn .2d 847 ,  864 , 889 P .2d 487 ( 1 995) . 

The parties d iscussed an ER 404(b) l im it ing instruct ion at tria l ,  but 

d isag reed over the form of the instruction .  Lewis said , " I  don 't l i ke the [Wash i ngton 

Pattern Ju ry I nstruct ion] for th is particu lar case for reasons that are l i kely 

understood by the Court and the State that there's so much ,  respectfu l ly ,  that You r  

Honor let i n .  We are d rafti ng someth ing that's a l itt le b it d ifferent . "  Lewis proposed 

the fo l lowing instruction :  

Over the course of the tria l , you have heard evidence concern ing 
a l leged prior acts of m isconduct by the defendant on dates other than 
that of the charged crime in  th is case . I t  is up  to you to determ i ne 
whether these a l leged prior acts occu rred and that the defendant 
comm itted them . You are not bound to accept the State 's a l legations 
i n  th is regard . If you determ ine the defendant d id commit these 
a l leged prior acts , the State sti l l  must prove that these prior acts are 
evidence of an element of the crime of murder i n  the fi rst deg ree . 
Even if you determ ine the State has proven that the defendant 
comm itted these prior acts , the State sti l l  has the burden of provi ng 
each and every element of the crime of murder i n  the fi rst deg ree . 

The State objected to th is instruct ion because it d id  not "g ive[] any instruct ions to 

the j u ry or even te l l [] them what evidence has been adm itted [for which] a l im it ing 

instruct ion is needed . "  The tr ia l  cou rt ru led Lewis's proposed l im it ing instruct ion 

was not as thorough as was requ i red , and add it ional  i nformation needed to be 

included . Lewis does not argue on appeal that the tria l  cou rt erred by not g iv ing 

th is specific instruction .  

1 9  
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The State proposed an a lternative l im iti ng instruction . 3 Lewis objected to 

the State's instruction , and to ld the tr ial cou rt " if You r  Honor does not wish to g ive 

our  l im it ing instruction ,  then after d iscuss ion with my c l ient several t imes about th is ,  

we wou ld s imply ask the Court not to g ive a l im it ing i nstruction at  a l l . "  Because 

Lewis d id not offer a comp l iant l im iti ng instruction ,  and objected to the State's 

l im it ing instruction ,  the State removed its request for the instruction . Cons istent 

with the defense's request that the court g ive no instruction , the tria l  cou rt d id not 

provide a l im it ing instruction .  

I n  Gresham , t he  court said , " [O]nce a crim ina l  defendant requests a l im it ing 

instruction ,  the tria l  cou rt has a duty to correctly instruct the j u ry, notwithstand ing 

defense counsel 's fa i l u re to  propose a correct instruction . "  1 73 Wn .2d a t  424 . 

Gresham re l ied on State v .  Gobe l ,  which stated , " [T] he court should state to the 

j u ry whatever it determines is  the pu rpose (or pu rposes) for which the evidence is 

adm iss ib le ;  and it should also be the court's duty to g ive the cautionary instruct ion 

3 The State's proposed l im iti ng instruct ion read : 

Certa i n  evidence has been adm itted i n  th is case for on ly a 
l im ited pu rpose . Th is evidence consists of test imony or exh ib its 
re lati ng to the defendant's a l leged assau lt of [Cana les] in Spokane 
i n  2009, h is prior convict ion for Second Deg ree Assau lt Domestic 
Vio lence from the incident with [Cana les] occurri ng on November 1 8 , 
20 1 6 , defendant's presence at [Cana les'] res idence on June 20 ,  
20 1 7 , and  h is  prior convict ion for Second Deg ree Assau lt Domestic 
Vio lence from the incident with [Cana les] occu rri ng on J une 2 1 , 
20 1 7 . You may consider th is evidence for pu rposes of determ in ing 
the defendant's motive , i ntent , preparation ,  or  common scheme or 
p lan . You may also consider th is evidence for pu rposes of 
determ in ing whether the offense was an agg ravated domestic 
v io lence offense. You may not consider it for any other pu rpose . 
Any d iscuss ion of th is evidence du ring you r  de l iberat ions must be 
consistent with this l im itation .  

20 



No .  83594-7- 1/2 1 

that such evidence is to be considered for no other pu rpose or pu rposes . "  kl 

(q uoti ng Gobe l ,  36 Wn .2d 367 , 379, 2 1 8  P . 3d 300 ( 1 950) (emphasis added)) . But 

Gresham is d isti ngu ishable ,  because the defendant there mainta i ned h is request 

for a l im it ing instruction , a lbeit one requ i ri ng mod ificat ion to accu rate ly describe the 

pu rpose in that case of showing common scheme or p lan . 1 73 Wn .2d at 424. The 

defendant never took the position , as Lewis d i d ,  that the court sho u ld  g ive no 

instruction .  Genera l ly ,  appel late cou rts do not a l low a defendant to ask a tria l  cou rt 

for specific re l ief and then seek reversal on appeal because the court g ranted the 

requested re l ief. See State v .  Carson ,  1 79 Wn . App .  96 1 , 973 , 320 P . 3d 1 85 

(20 1 4) ,  aff'd , 1 84 Wn .2d 207 , 357 P . 3d 1 064 (20 1 5) .  Lewis asked the court not to 

g ive a l im it ing instruction ,  and i n  that c i rcumstance ,  it was not error for the court to 

decl ine to g ive an instruction .  

C 

Lewis argues the tr ial cou rt abused its d iscret ion when , he says , it ru led he 

opened the door to evidence that he "psycholog ica l ly abused" h is  ch i l d ren .  We 

d isag ree . 

Before tria l , the State moved to a l low Westvo ld-Naekel to testify about 

Lewis's demeanor du ring the supervised visit the even ing  before the murder .  The 

State argued the evidence shou ld be adm itted as res gestae , not under ER 404(b) . 

Lewis ag reed her observations were not subject to ER 404(b) . The tria l  cou rt ru led 

that the visit supervisor cou ld testify to what she saw, but not "what was go ing 

th rough [Lewis's] m i nd or not. " I n  its written order ,  the tr ial cou rt ru led that the 

parties were in ag reement the evidence was res gestae . However, desp ite the 
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parties' oral stipulation, the trial court additionally ruled the evidence was 

admissible under E R  404(b). 

On direct examination, Westvold-Naekel testified , "There was no initiation 

on [Lewis's] part to converse with the children or talk about things aside from one 

particular incident at the beginning. And there was no hugging[,] cuddl ing, [or] 

snuggling of the children."  On cross-examination, Lewis asked the supervisor 

whether she forgot about the fact that Lewis "was dancing with his kids, per your 

report, to dance videos? And in fact you write, 'He captures the girls dancing on 

video . ' " Lewis further questioned Westvold-Naekel about whether Lewis was 

dancing and playing with his children that night. Outside the presence of the jury, 

the State argued that because of the defense cross-examination "the door has 

been opened" to further evidence that Lewis made one child cry and "was not this 

picture of dancing happiness, as defense has painted him. '' The trial court agreed. 

On re-direct, the State el icited testimony that during the visit, Lewis asked 

one of his children to pick something up. After repeated requests, the child began 

to cry. Later, "Lewis told him that he needed to listen when he's asked to do 

something and asked [the child] if he understood. [The child] responded, 'Yes.' 

And then [Lewis] said, ' "Yes, sir.'' You need to say, "Yes, sir.'' ' [The child] did not 

say anyth ing. And then [Lewis] returned him to the time-out, and [the child] began 

crying again . '' Then, while two other children were eating, one took a bite of the 

other's mashed potatoes and spit it back on the other's plate. That child wished 

not to eat those mashed potatoes, saying , "[T]hey taste like spit." Lewis 
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" responded to her to stop compla i n i ng and fi n ish her d i nner .  ' I  don 't want to hear 

it . ' " 

" [E]vidence of other crimes or bad acts is adm iss ib le to comp lete the story 

of a crime or to provide the immed iate context for events close i n  both t ime and 

p lace to the charged crime . "  State v .  L i l la rd ,  1 22 Wn . App .  422 , 432 , 93 P . 3d 969 

(2004) . Res gestae evidence is not evidence of un re lated prior crim ina l  activity but 

is itself a part of the crime charged . State v .  Sub lett ,  1 56 Wn . App .  1 60 ,  1 96 ,  231  

P . 3d 23 1 (20 1 0) ,  aff'd , 1 76 Wn .2d 58 ,  292 P . 3d 7 1 5 (20 1 2) (p l u ra l ity op in ion) . 

U nder the State's theory, Lewis was act ing unusua l ly towards h is ch i ld ren because 

he knew Phe lps and Hale were prepari ng to d rive from Spokane to Everett to 

commit the murder .  The evidence was probative of Lewis's state of m i nd and 

i nvo lvement i n  the murder ,  and re levant to estab l ish i ng an essent ia l e lement of the 

State's case . The tria l  cou rt d id not abuse its d iscret ion i n  adm itt ing th is evidence .  

D 

Lewis argues the tr ial cou rt erred i n  adm itti ng two photog raphs ,  exh ib its 200 

and 202 , which showed Canales-McGu i re's deceased body with trajectory rods 

p laced i n  her wounds to i l l ustrate the path of bu l lets that struck her .  The State 

argues the photog raphs were re levant to support ing Phe lps's cred ib i l ity because 

they supported h is description of the shooti ng . Lewis argues the exh ib its 

"contributed noth ing of add it iona l ,  substant ia l  probative va lue , "  and " i nvited j u rors 

to pun ish Lewis for deg rad ing the deceased . "  We d isag ree . 

To the extent of the exh ib its transm itted to th is cou rt ,  exh ib its 200 and 202 

were two photog raphs among at least 25 photog raphs genera l ly showing Cana les-
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McGu i re deceased at the crime scene,  the crime scene after her body had been 

removed , and her gunshot wounds noted du ring autopsy. These photog raphs 

dep ict a b loody shoot ing scene and Canales-McGu i re 's deceased body affl icted 

by gunshot wounds .  Lewis asserts error based on on ly exh ib its 200 and 202 

because of the i r  add it iona l ly showing trajectory rods p laced in the gunshot wounds 

to i l l ustrate bu l let paths .  

"Accu rate photog raph ic representat ions are adm iss ib le ,  even i f  g ruesome,  

if the i r  p robative va lue outweighs the i r  p rej ud ic ia l  effect. " State v. Crenshaw, 98 

Wn .2d 789 , 806,  659 P .2d 488 ( 1 983) . However, both tria l  cou rts and prosecutors 

must "exercise the i r  d iscret ion i n  the use of g ruesome photog raphs , "  and 

prosecutors may not " i ntrod uce every p iece of adm iss ib le evidence if the 

cumu lative effect of such evidence is i nflammatory and unnecessary . "  kl at 807 . 

I n  cases "where p roof of the crim inal  act may be amply proven th rough testimony 

and non i nflammatory evidence , "  p rosecutors shou ld "use restra int i n  the i r  re l iance 

on g ruesome and repetitive photog raphs . "  kl " I n  consider ing such photog raphs , "  

cou rts " reversed the customary presumption of admiss ib i l ity under ER 403" and 

the photog raphs are adm iss ib le " if the probative va lue outweighs the prejud ic ia l  

effect . "  C ity of Auburn v .  Hed l und , 1 65 Wn .2d 645 ,  655, 20 1 P . 3d 3 1 5 (2009) . We 

review the tria l  cou rt's ru l i ng  adm itt ing such photog raphs for abuse of d iscretion . 

Crenshaw, 98 Wn .2d at 806 . 

I n  State v. Sargent, the State argued photog raph ic  evidence of the wou nds 

to the back of a mu rder victim 's head was " re levant to show the force of the fata l 

b lows , "  a fact the State cited as support ing an i nference of premed itation .  40 Wn . 
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App .  340 , 348-49 ,  698 P .2d 598 ( 1 985) . We expressed skeptic ism of the State's 

argument and held the prejud ic ia l  effect of the evidence outweighed any probative 

va lue .  ill at 349 .  The State also re l ied on photog raphs of the victim at the murder 

scene ,  but the photog raphs were cumu lative of "test imony from the fi refighters who 

d iscovered the body that reveals the same i nformation , "  and we expla i ned , 

"D iag rams cou ld reveal the same information as the photog raphs i n  a 

nonprejud ic ia l  manner . "  ill I n  State v. Fraser, the defendant adm itted shooti ng 

the decedent but argued the shooting was an "un i ntended resu lt" of act ions the 

defendant took when the decedent had " l ung [ed] at h im . "  1 70 Wn . App .  1 3 , 1 8 , 

282 P . 3d 1 52 (20 1 2) .  The tria l  cou rt adm itted an autopsy photog raph with a meta l 

rod p laced to i l l ustrate the path of the bu l let, and another photog raph showi ng 

damage i ns ide the decedent's mouth . ill at 29. The record d id not i nd icate the 

photog raph was used to i nflame the j u ry .  ill We affi rmed , exp la in ing  the 

photog raph "he lped i l l ustrate the med ical exami ner's test imony on the damage 

caused by the bu l let and the trajectory of the bu l let and showed deta i ls  the other 

photog raph d id not . "  ill at 30.  

Relyi ng on exh ib it 200 ,  Dr .  Selove testified that one trajectory rod showed 

one shot taking "a lmost a leve l pathway th rough the head , "  perhaps "s l ig htly 

downward . "  In contrast, another trajectory was shown to be "sharply downward i n  

he r  body, s l ig htly from her  front to her  back and  s l ig htly from her  left downward 

toward her rig ht . "  Th is i nd icated Canales-McGu i re was looki ng at the g u n ,  either 

from a stand ing or sup ine posit ion , when one shot was fi red , and bent forward with 

respect to the muzzle for the other .  An add it iona l  rod shown in exh ib it 202 showed 

25 



No .  83594-7- 1/26 

that, from another shot ,  a bu l let "passed downward from her left to her rig ht , from 

her front toward her back . "  D r. Selove descri bed the deg ree to wh ich each of the 

five shots posed l ife-th reaten ing i nj u ries . 

The ana lys is of the bu l let trajectories was re levant to Dr .  Selove's 

assessment of the sequence i n  wh ich the shots were fi red and whether that 

sequence was cons istent with Phe lps's account .  I t  was also re levant to 

determ in ing the lethal ity of the shots and whether the events cou ld have occu rred 

in the manner Phe lps reported . I n  both cases Dr .  Selove's ana lys is of Cana les­

McGu i re's wounds supported that the shooti ng cou ld  have occu rred in  the manner 

Phe lps reported-fi rst fi ri ng one set of shots from the garage and then fi ri ng 

another set of shots after Canales-McGu i re had fa l len and from closer range .  The 

photog raph ic  evidence showing the bu l let trajectories i l l ustrated Dr .  Selove's 

test imony, p rovided support for h is op in ions ,  and was not used to i nsp i re an 

emotiona l  response .  Th is was consistent with Fraser. Because the State re l ied 

on Exh ib its 200 and 202 to fa i rly i l l ustrate Dr. Selove's op in ions and d id not seek 

to insp i re an emotional  react ion , the trial cou rt d id not abuse its d iscret ion i n  

adm itt ing these exh ib its . 

E 

Lewis argues the tr ial cou rt erred by denyi ng h is  motion to suppress the 

resu lts of search warrants th rough which pol ice obta i ned i nformation from Spri nt ,  

Facebook, Goog le ,  Snapchat ,  Bank of America , NA, and Key Bank. After 

consider ing the evidence i ntrod uced at tr ial obta ined th rough these warrants i n  

comparison to  the evidence described above , we conclude any  error concern ing 
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the warrants was harm less because "any reasonable trier of fact wou ld have 

reached the same resu lt" based on "the 'overwhe lm ing unta i nted evidence . '  " 

State v. Thompson , 1 5 1 Wn .2d 793 ,  808 ,  92 P . 3d 228 (2004) (quoti ng State v .  

Sm ith , 1 48 Wn .2d 1 22 ,  1 39 ,  59 P . 3d 74 (2002) ) .  

F rom the Spri nt records ,  detectives learned that Lewis owned an And roid 

phone .  They add it iona l ly learned that ce l l  s ite location i nformat ion d id not show 

Lewis's phone near the scene of the mu rder .  

Facebook messages between Dare l l  and Lewis showed d iscuss ion of rent 

payments ,  Lewis i nqu i ring about a d ivorce lawyer, and , on the n ight of September 

1 9 , Dare l l  te l l i ng Lewis the garage door was open .  

From Goog le ,  the State offered and  the court adm itted Lewis's i nternet 

searches from June 1 9 , J u ly 1 6 , and September 20 th rough 2 1 , 20 1 7 . On J une 

1 9 , Lewis searched for d i rect ions to Cana les's home . Records also showed 

Lewis's phone trave l i ng to Cana les's res idence the same day, fo l lowi ng the Goog le 

recommended route . On J u ly 1 6 , Lewis searched for "Panthers p layer who k i l led 

h is wife . "  Between September 20 and 2 1 , Lewis searched for " lynwood shooti ng 

today , "  "everett shoot ing today , "  and "everett shooting yesterday . "  On September 

1 9 , 20 1 7 , Goog le locat ion i nformation showed Lewis at h is  home between 9 :46 

p . m .  to 1 1  : 57 p . m .  Goog le locat ion i nformat ion subsequently showed Lewis at h is  

home between 1 2 : 00 a . m .  and 1 : 1 1 a . m .  on September 20 ,  20 1 7 .  At 

approximate ly 1 :  1 3  a . m . ,  Goog le records showed Lewis's phone moving away 

from h is res idence unt i l  1 : 1 5  a . m .  Between 1 : 1 5  a . m .  and 1 :35  a .m . ,  there is a gap 

i n  the Goog le locat ion i nformation ,  i nd icat ing the phone was e i ther tu rned off or 
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p laced i n  a i rp lane mode .  Goog le locat ion records later showed Lewis's phone 

between 5 : 06 a . m .  to 5 : 2 1  a . m .  on September 20 near h is home. 

From Snapchat, the State offered and the court adm itted two of Lewis's 

conversat ions .  The fi rst conversat ion occurred on August 8 ,  20 1 7 and was 

between Lewis and an unnamed i nd ivid ua l .  Lewis was describ ing what he wants 

i n  a woman . He concluded by stati ng , "You have to workout with me .  And go on 

b ike rides.  And sport ing events . If I need you to h ide a body you don 't even have 

to ask any questions .  I 'm  being dead ass serious about the last one . "  The second 

conversat ion was between Lewis and Phelps ;  however, the messages d id not 

re late to the hom icide .4 

Last, the State offered and the cou rt adm itted Lewis's Key Bank month ly 

cred it card statements from May 2 1 , 20 1 7  to January 20 ,  20 1 8 . It a lso offered Key 

Bank account statements showing depos its and withd rawals from May 20 1 7  to 

December 20 1 7 . The State offered and the cou rt adm itted Lewis 's Bank of 

America monthly statements from May 20 1 7  to October 201 7 ,  as wel l  as cop ies of 

deposit s l i ps or checks that were cashed du ring that t ime period . The Key Bank 

and Bank of America records were shown i n  a presentat ion used du ring Betts's 

test imony to i l l ustrate it was poss ib le for Lewis to save $2 ,400 .00 i n  cash to pay 

Phe lps for the murder .  

Some of th is evidence is i ncrim i nati ng , part icu larly Lewis's i nternet search 

for "Panthers p layer who k i l led h is wife" and the locat ion i nformation suggesti ng 

4 Our record is not c lear on whether the latter Snapchat conversat ion was 
obta ined from Lewis's or Phe lps's records .  We assume for pu rposes of ou r  
decis ion that i t  was obta i ned from Lewis 's .  
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his phone moving together with Phelps and Hale at 1 : 1 3  a .m.  on September 20, 

201 7, along with the phone being disabled during the time their vehicle left Lewis's 

residence and then returned to it. However, other than the extent to which he 

challenges Lee's report of hearsay by Hale, Lewis does not challenge the evidence 

described in section I above. Similarly, we have concluded the trial court did not 

err in admitting the evidence described in sections II A-D above. Given the 

untainted and properly admitted evidence described above, any reasonable trier 

of fact would have reached the same result in the absence of evidence from the 

challenged warrants. 

The untainted evidence showed Lewis had motivation to injure Canales 

based on past and escalating assaults. Lewis threatened to kill her in terms she 

perceived as serious at the time. Lewis tied his threat to rul ings in anticipated 

family court proceedings, which later went against him within a month before the 

murder. Lewis made at least two trips to Canales's residence. Canales was 

provably fearful to a degree supporting a protection order. Lewis was noticeably 

d istracted the evening of the murder. Phelps and Hale drove from Spokane 

directly to Lewis's residence, arriving at 1 :1 0 a .m.  when a person from the 

residence entered their vehicle without any conversation. The only residents of 

the household at the time were Lewis, his mother, his sister, and his renter. 

Minutes later, the same vehicle was recorded traveling past a business in the 

direction of Canales's, then the vehicle returned to Lewis's residence to drop off 

the person it had picked up, then it again passed the business in the direction of 

Canales's, and only minutes later the shooting was reported to 91 1 .  Phelps's 
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inquiry about the presence of children, he said at Hale's request, implied a level of 

recognition that a domestic dispute underlay the kil l ing. A nine mil l imeter gun was 

used, corresponding to the one Hale's mother purchased and later could not find. 

The physical evidence of the shooting matched Phelps's description. The camera 

at the local business showed Phelps and Hale returning toward Canales's 

residence to look for the lost glove. Phelps's phone records showed his phone 

accessing data near Canales's residence so that he could obtain GPS directions 

back to Spokane. Phelps posted to Snapchat showing he had received $2,400.00 

in cash, and Lewis's renter gave testimony suggesting Lewis had recent access to 

at least $1 , 1 00 in cash from two monthly rent payments. The only connection 

between Phelps and Canales in the evidence was through Lewis. The only motive 

to kill anyone in Canales's residence was Lewis's stated one. When confronted 

that morning, Lewis did express surprise at learning that Canales was out of town, 

but expressed none at the news there had been a shooting at the house his 

children were at that night. The defense closing argument conceded it was Lewis 

in the video getting into Phelps's car, explaining when Lewis denied leaving his 

house that night, he "lied to the police." And Phelps confessed to the entirety of 

his role, pleading gui lty to first degree murder. Based on this evidence, any 

reasonable trier of fact would reach the same result. If there was any error in 

allowing evidence from the challenged warrants, it was harmless given the 

overwhelming untainted evidence. 
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F 

Lewis argues the trial court erred in admitting Hale's hearsay statements to 

Lee about the murder. We agree, but conclude the admission of these statements 

was harmless. 

The State e l icited testimony from Lee that sometime in August or 

September 201 8, she was at a pool party with a person she knew as Angie .  The 

parties do not dispute that the person Lee knew as "Angie" was Hale. The two 

were talking when "all of a sudden, [Hale says], 'Can I tell you something that you 

can't tell anybody?' " Lee testified she remembered Hale saying that Phelps's 

uncle wanted Phelps to take out the uncle's "baby mama," and Phelps's uncle 

offered to pay him $1 0,000.00. Hale stated she agreed to help, and she and 

Phelps drove 

to Seattle from Spokane, and she said that they went to [Phelps's] 
uncle first, and then from [Phelps's] uncle's house, they went to the 
woman's house. [Hale] went up and knocked on the door while 
[Phelps] hid around the corner. And when the woman opened the 
door, [Phelps] came around with open fire . 

Lee testified Hale admitted to kil l ing the wrong person ;  the two accidently killed the 

sister of the "baby mama." Lee further testified that Hale told her the murder 

happened in Everett, and the two were paid $2,500.00. 

The State contended the statements were not offered to prove the truth of 

the matter, but to show the reasons the police resumed investigating after they 

received Lee's tip in September 201 8.  The trial court denied Lewis's motion to 

exclude Hale's statements referring to Lewis as "baby daddy" on the ground they 

were not offered for the truth of the matter asserted . 
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Hearsay is statement, other than the one made by the declarant wh i le 

testifying at  the tr ial or  hearing , offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted . 

ER 80 1 (c) . "Whether a statement is hearsay depends upon the pu rpose for wh ich 

the statement is offered . "  State v .  Crowder ,  1 03 Wn . App .  20, 26 ,  1 1  P . 3d 828 

(2000) . "A statement is not hearsay if it is used on ly to show the effect on the 

l istener ,  without regard to the truth of the statement . "  State v .  Edwards ,  1 3 1 Wn . 

App .  6 1 1 ,  6 1 4 , 1 28 P . 3d 631  (2006) . I n  determ in i ng whether the statement was 

offered to prove its truth instead of for a ben ign  pu rpose as the State asserts , we 

examine whether the ben ign  pu rpose was re levant. See State v. H ud low, 1 82 Wn . 

App .  266 , 278-80 ,  331  P . 3d 90 (20 1 4) .  A hearsay statement not offered to prove 

the truth of the matter asserted is i nadm issib le under ER 80 1 (c) if the pu rpose for 

which it is offered is i rre levant. See State v. Gonzalez-Gonzalez , 1 93 Wn . App .  

683 ,  690 , 370  P . 3d 989  (20 1 6) ;  H ud low, 1 82 Wn . App .  a t  278-80 . 

Based on State v. Chenoweth , the State argues the statements were 

adm iss ib le for the non hearsay pu rpose of showi ng the i r  effect on law enforcement, 

but th is argument is unava i l i ng  on the record here .  1 88 Wn . App 52 1 , 354 P . 3d 1 3  

(20 1 5) .  I n  Chenoweth , the defendant chal lenged the adm ission of test imony that 

the vict im d isclosed the sexua l  assau lt to witnesses . � at 53 1 . The tria l  cou rt 

ru led the evidence of the d isclosures was adm iss ib le to exp la in  how the a l legat ions 

came to the attent ion of law enforcement. � However, the tria l  cou rt ru led the 

test imony wou ld " 'stay absol ute ly that generic[ , ]  s imp ly to exp la in  to the j u ry how 

we g [o]t here ,  noth i ng more . ' " � (alterat ions i n  orig ina l ) . The witnesses testified 

"without reference to any specifics of the a l legations .  Th is test imony was not 
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offered for the truth of the a l legations ,  but to show what the witnesses d id next and 

provide a basis for the i r  testimony."  liL_ at 534 (footnote om itted) .  Th is case is 

d isti ngu ishab le ,  because Lee testified specifica l ly about what Hale to ld her .  

Because the test imony was not generic ,  it was error to adm it Hale 's statements for 

the pu rpose the State offered of exp la in ing  the reasons for the pol ice's actions . 5 

We ana lyze the erroneous adm ission of evidence i n  v io lat ion of an 

evident iary ru le under the nonconstitutiona l  harm less error standard . State v .  

Gower, 1 79 Wn .2d 851 , 854 ,  32 1 P . 3d 1 1 78 (20 1 4) .  Nonconstitutiona l  error is 

harm less if there is a reasonable probab i l ity that, without the error, " 'the outcome 

of the tria l  wou ld  have been materia l ly affected . '  " Gresham , 1 73 Wn .2d at 433 

( i nternal quotat ion marks om itted) (quot ing State v .  Sm ith 1 06 Wn .2d 772 , 780 , 

725 P .2d 951  ( 1 986)) . Even if Hale 's statements to Lee had been excl uded , 

Phe lps's test imony sti l l  wou ld  have p laced nearly the same information before the 

j u ry .  There is no reasonable probab i l ity that the outcome of the tria l  wou ld  have 

been materia l ly affected .  Any erroneous adm ission of Hale 's hearsay statements 

was harm less . 

G 

Lewis argues the tria l  cou rt erred in  perm itti ng test imony from an 

i nvest igati ng detective as to Lewis's gu i lt .  We ag ree the test imony was improper ,  

but conclude it was harm less . 

5 I n  concl ud ing the nonhearsay pu rpose offered by the State d id not support 
adm ission of the evidence ,  we do not consider whether other poss ib le non hearsay 
pu rposes existed . 
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Fagan responded to the homicide scene and was later tasked with 

attempting to contact Lewis at his residence. After discussing Fagan's 

conversation with Lewis, the State inquired about Fagan's continued investigation, 

including other witnesses, the camera evidence, and the scene of the crime. The 

State asked about Fagan investigating drive times between Lewis's and Canales's 

residences to compare with the timing of the car in the video evidence and the 91 1 

cal l .  The State asked whether "[a]t this point were you trying to say[] that [Lewis] 

was conclusively involved with the homicide? Did you make up your mind that he 

was involved?" Fagan gave a narrative answer ind icating why the pol ice were 

looking at Lewis as "a potential suspect or person of interest," concluding with a 

comment about the possibil ity of parties to a d ivorce committing violence: 

[Fagan] At this point we are in the morning hours of the 2oth. 
We don't know who was involved at this point, so any time you have 
a person that comes up as either a person of interest or a suspect 
perhaps, you have to develop information that would exclude 
someone being involved or include them .  And typically through the 
course of an investigation you gather evidence, videos, do 
interviews, send stuff off to the state lab, do a variety of investigation 
that can lead to including or excluding. And giving some of the 
information that we learned from patrol related to [Lewis] and 
[Canales], there were things to be concerned of that obviously we 
needed to work through and see if we could exclude him or include 
h im.  

[The State] Specifically why is he a potential suspect or person of 
interest at this point? 

[Fagan] We knew [Lewis] and [Canales] were in the process of 
going through a divorce. There was court paperwork related to that. 
There was paperwork showing [Lewis] had supervised visits, so for 
lack of a better word, it was a contentious divorce. It was not 
amicable. It was not something easily working out. There were 
police incidents that were connected to [Lewis] and/or [Canales], so 
it became important given that context of what was happening with 
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h im .  When there is a homicide, you immediately look at people that 
are most direct to the victim. In this case would be [Canales­
McGuire]. It is the home of [Canales] to see if they had motive or 
reason to carry this out. 

[The State] And you said it is common to do that. Why is that? 

[Fagan] L ike in a d ivorce there is a lot of emotion that is 
wrapped in that one way or another. Sometimes the emotions get 
the better of someone and causes them, in this case multiple times 
to lash those emotions out and have them killed or kill them. 

(Emphasis added . )  

At the next break, Lewis 's counsel objected to  Fagan 's statements and 

asked that there not be fu rther question i ng of  that natu re .  The prosecutor i nd icated 

the i ntent of the question ing had been to e l icit why law enforcement had been 

i nvest igati ng Lewis .  The tr ial cou rt appears to have examined an ava i lab le rea l ­

t ime transcript to  locate the chal lenged question . The court stated , 

I th i nk  I have l i kely the specific question . The question was you said 
it is common to do that and why it is referri ng to looki ng at people 
associated with the i nd ivid ua l  v ictim .  And then the detective , and j ust 
genera l ly ,  in a d ivorce there is a lot of emotion that happens.  
Sometimes emotions some cause them . So I th i nk  I understand the 
natu re of the object ion . At th is poi nt it is c lear i t  is u lt imate ly for the 
trier of fact to determ ine whatever events , and u lt imate ly he is 
respons ib le for that. So to the extent the question ca l ls for th is type 
of concl us ion , if there was contemporaneous [object ion] , it wou ld be 
susta i ned . The quest ion that was asked doesn 't seem to cal l  for that 
conc lus ion though .  

Lewis d id not make a fu rther object ion or seek fu rther re l ief. On appeal , Lewis 

argues Fagan 's statements ,  emphas ized in ita l ics above , expressed an improper 

op in ion on gu i lt .  

In a crim ina l  tria l , " [o]p in ions on gu i lt are improper whether made d i rectly or  

by i nference . "  State v .  Quaale ,  1 82 Wn .2d 1 9 1 ,  1 99 ,  340 P . 3d 2 1 3 (20 1 4) .  
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" Imperm iss ib le op in ion test imony regard i ng the defendant's gu i lt may be revers ib le 

error because such evidence vio lates the defendant's constitutional  rig ht to a j u ry 

tria l , which i ncludes the independent determ inat ion of the facts by the j u ry . "  kl 

"The tria l  cou rt has wide d iscret ion to determ ine the adm iss ib i l ity of evidence ,  and 

the tria l  cou rt's decis ion whether to adm it or  exclude evidence wi l l  not be reversed 

on appeal un less the appe l lant can estab l ish that the tr ial court abused its 

d iscretion . "  State v. Demery, 1 44 Wn .2d 753 ,  758 ,  30 P . 3d 1 278 (200 1 ) .  

Test imony by po l ice officers "carries a n  'aura of re l iab i l ity . '  " State v .  

Montgomery, 1 63 Wn .2d 577 , 595 , 1 83 P . 3d 267 (2008) (quoting Demery, 1 44 

Wn .2d at 765) . Courts have i n  some cases viewed statements by po l ice officers 

as "analogous to the prosecutor making statements du ring tria l  that [they] thought 

that the defendant was gu i lty or  untruthfu l , "  and have noted that "when a law 

enforcement officer g ives op in ion testimony, the j u ry is especia l ly l i kely to be 

i nfl uenced by that testimony. '' Demery, 1 44 Wn .2d at 762 . When a prosecutor 

asks an appropriate question , nonrespons ive test imony offered by a witness that 

is an improper comment on a crim ina l  defendant's cred ib i l ity or  gu i lt is subject to 

be ing stricken by the court .  See State v. J ungers ,  1 25 Wn . App .  895 ,  902 , 1 06 

P . 3d 827 (2005) . 

"Whether testimony constitutes an imperm iss ib le op in ion on gu i lt or  a 

perm iss ib le op in ion embraci ng an ' u ltimate issue' wi l l  genera l ly depend on the 

specific c i rcumstances of each case , i nc lud i ng the type of witness i nvo lved , the 

specific natu re of the test imony, the natu re of the charges , the type of defense , 

and the other evidence before the trier of fact . "  C ity of Seattle v. Heatley ,  70 Wn . 
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App .  573 , 579 , 854 P .2d 658 ( 1 993) . " [T]est imony that is not a d i rect comment on 

the defendant's gu i lt or  on the veracity of a witness , is otherwise he lpfu l to the j u ry ,  

and is based on i nferences from the evidence is not improper op in ion testimony. " 

kl at 578 .  I n  Quaale ,  an answer by a state trooper i n  a d rivi ng under the i nfluence 

case stat ing , "Absolutely. There was no doubt [the defendant] was impa i red , "  was 

an improper op in ion on gu i lt because it "went to the core issue and the on ly 

d isputed element. " 1 82 Wn .2d at 1 95 ,  200 .  I n  Montgomery, an officer testified , " ' I  

fe lt very strong ly that they were , i n  fact , buying i ngred ients to manufactu re 

methamphetamine based on what they had purchased , the manner i n  which they 

had done it , go ing from d ifferent stores , go ing to d ifferent checkout lanes . I ' d  seen 

those act ions several times before . '  " 1 63 Wn .2d at 587-88 . Th is ,  among other 

statements ,  was an improper op in ion on gu i lt because it "went to the core issue 

and the on ly d isputed element . "  kl at 594 .  

Here ,  the State asked why Fagan sought to determine d rive t imes between 

Lewis's res idence and Cana les's res idence when he d id ,  the day after the 

hom icide .  I t  was re levant to e l icit Fagan 's exp lanat ion for i nvest igati ng the d rive 

t imes when he d id ,  g iven the lack of other evidence imp l icati ng Lewis at that t ime.  

Fagan 's answer exp la i ned a reasonable justificat ion for pu rsu ing  that i nvest igation 

at  that t ime to the extent he referred to what was then known about the acrimony 

of the d issol ut ion proceed ings ,  po l ice i ncidents ,  the practice of looki ng at those 

persons "most d i rect" to the victim ,  and the fact of emotions runn i ng h igh  in fam i ly 

law d isputes . 
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However, after stat ing the genera l  p roposit ion that people may act on the i r  

emotions ,  Fagan made fu rther statements ,  that " [ i ]t is t he  home of [Canales]" and 

"in this case mu lt ip le t imes to lash those emotions out and have them killed. " 

(Emphasis added . )  Those statements went beyond facts justifying fu rther 

i nvest igation known at the t ime of the hom icide and were specific to the State's 

theory agai nst Lewis .  They tied Fagan 's statements concern ing the genera l  

potent ia l  for crim i na l  acts i n  the context of fam i ly law d isputes to the State's specific 

theory agai nst Lewis .  To that extent, Fagan 's statements amounted i nferentia l ly 

to an improper op in ion on gu i lt .  

An improper op in ion on gu i lt may vio late the defendant's constitutiona l  rig ht 

to have a fact crit ica l to gu i lt determ ined by the j u ry ,  but is subject to harmless error 

ana lys is .  Quaa le ,  1 82 Wn .2d at 20 1 -02 . Constitutiona l  error is harm less "on ly i f  

the State estab l ishes beyond a reasonable doubt that any reasonable j u ry wou ld 

have reached the same resu lt absent the error . " kl at 202 . I n  the context of 

whether an op in ion on gu i lt was a man ifest constitutiona l  error that cou ld be ra ised 

for the fi rst t ime on review under RAP 2 . 5 (a) (3) , the court has said , " Important to 

the determ i nation of whether op in ion test imony prejud ices the defendant is 

whether the j u ry was properly instructed . "  Montgomery. 1 63 Wn .2d at 595. The 

court has considered in this determ inat ion whether "the j u ry was properly 

instructed . . .  j u rors 'are the sole j udges of the cred ib i l ity of witnesses , '  and that 

j u rors 'are not bound '  by expert witness op in ions . "  kl ( i nternal quotat ion marks 

om itted) (quoting State v. Ki rkman , 1 59 Wn .2d 9 1 8 ,  937 ,  1 55 P . 3d 1 25 (2007)) . 

With a proper instruction , improper op in ion test imony is less l i kely to prejud ice the 
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outcome when it is cumu lative of other evidence of gu i lt .  See State v .  Thompson ,  

90 Wn . App .  4 1 , 47 ,  950  P .2d 977 ( 1 998) . I n  Montgomery, the Supreme Court 

suggested d i rect op in ions on gu i lt are more l i kely to be prej ud ic ia l  than i nferent ia l 

op in ions ,  stat ing , " [ l ]t is very troub l i ng  that the test imony i n  th is case was qu ite 

d i rect and used exp l icit express ions of personal bel ief. " 1 63 Wn .2d at 594 

I n  th is case , there was no contemporaneous object ion . Th is suggests the 

comment was not viewed as s ign ificant at the t ime it was made .  Add itiona l ly ,  the 

subject matter of the question i ng was d i rected to general  reasons to i nvestigate 

Lewis ,  and the majority of Fagan 's answers spoke to those general  reasons .  Lewis 

d id not ask for any re l ief at tr ial other than that s im i lar  questions not be asked i n  

t he  futu re .  Th i s  request was honored . Fagan 's statements were not d i rect 

op in ions that Lewis was connected to the hom icide .  Furthermore ,  Fagan 's 

test imony apart from these brief comments genera l ly fo l lowed the outl ine of the 

State's case aga i nst Lewis . F ina l ly ,  the j u ry was instructed they were the sole 

j udges of cred ib i l ity and were not requ i red to accept expert op in ion . Fagan 's brief 

reference to the State's theory i n  the context of exp la i n i ng what the po l ice knew at 

success ive t imes d id not mean i ngfu l ly suggest a concl us ion of gu i lt more so than 

the c i rcumstances as a whole d i d .  Any error i n  the adm ission of Fagan 's 

statements was harm less . 

1 1 1  

Lewis argues he rece ived i neffective assistance of counsel i n  severa l 

respects . We d isag ree. 
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The federal  and state constitutions guarantee an accused person the rig ht 

to effective ass istance of counse l ,  subject to a two prong test estab l ished i n  

Strickland v .  Wash ington , 466 U . S .  668 , 687,  1 04 S .  Ct. 2052 , 80 L .  Ed . 2d 674 

( 1 984) ; State v .  Estes ,  1 88 Wn .2d 450 , 457 ,  395 P . 3d 1 045 (20 1 7) ;  U . S .  CONST. 

amend . VI ; WASH .  CONST. art .  I ,  § 22 . To demonstrate i neffective ass istance of 

counse l ,  the defendant must show that ( 1 )  counse l 's performance was defic ient ,  

defi ned as fa l l i ng below an objective standard of reasonableness , and (2) 

counse l 's deficient performance prejud iced the defendant ,  determ ined by whether 

there is a reasonable probab i l ity that, but for counsel 's errors , the resu lt of the 

proceed ings wou ld have been d ifferent. Strickland , 466 U . S .  at  687-88 , 694 .  

We beg i n  with a strong presumption that counse l 's representat ion was 

reasonab le .  Estes , 1 88 Wn .2d at 458 . Th is cou rt presumes adequate 

representat ion if there is any " 'conceivable leg itimate tactic' " that exp la ins 

counse l 's performance .  In  re Det. of  Hatfie ld , 1 9 1 Wn . App .  378 , 402 , 362 P . 3d 

997 (20 1 5) (quot ing State v. Re ichenbach , 1 53 Wn .2d 1 26 ,  1 30 ,  1 0 1 P . 3d 80 

(2004)) . The reasonableness of counsel 's performance is eva luated from 

" 'counsel 's perspective at the t ime of the a l leged error and i n  l ig ht of a l l  the 

c i rcumstances . ' " In re Pers .  Restra int of Davis , 1 52 Wn .2d 647 , 673 , 1 0 1 P . 3d 1 

(2004) (quoti ng Kimmelman v. Morrison , 477 U . S .  365,  384 , 1 06 S .  Ct. 2574 , 9 1  

L .  Ed . 2 d  305 ( 1 986)) . To rebut the presumption of reasonableness , a defendant 

must estab l ish an absence of any leg itimate tria l  tact ic that wou ld exp la in  counse l ' s  

performance .  I n  re Pers .  Restra int of  Lu i ,  1 88 Wn .2d 525 ,  539 , 397 P . 3d 90 (20 1 7) .  

40 



No .  83594-7- 1/4 1  

Prejud ice exists if there i s  a reasonable probab i l ity that "but for counsel 's 

deficient performance ,  the outcome of the proceed ings wou ld have been d ifferent . "  

State v .  Kyl lo ,  1 66 Wn .2d 856 , 862 , 2 1 5 P . 3d 1 77 (2009) . "Reasonable probab i l ity" 

in th is context means a probab i l ity sufficient to underm ine confidence in the 

outcome. Estes , 1 88 Wn .2d at 458 .  A defendant must affi rmative ly prove 

prejud ice ,  not s imp ly show that " 'the errors had some conceivable effect on the 

outcome . ' " State v .  Crawford ,  1 59 Wn .2d 86 ,  99, 1 47 P . 3d 1 288 (2006) (quoti ng 

Strickland , 466 U . S .  at 693) . 

Lewis fi rst argues h is  counsel was i neffective i n  fa i l i ng to object to the 

Goog le and Snapchat warrants .  As d iscussed above , assum ing the evidence from 

those warrants shou ld have been suppressed , any error was harm less . For the 

same reason ,  Lewis cannot show that he was prejud iced by any fa i l u re by h is 

counsel to chal lenge these warrants . An appel late court need not cons ider both 

prongs of Strickland if a c la im of i neffective ass istance of counsel fa i ls on one .  !n 

re Pers .  Restra int of Crace , 1 74 Wn .2d 835 , 847 , 280 P . 3d 1 1 02 (20 1 2) .  

Next , Lewis argues h i s  counsel was i neffective i n  propos ing a flawed E R  

404(b) l im it ing instruction ,  and then decl i n ing a n  instruct ion a ltogether .  We 

d isag ree . Lewis's counsel exp la i ned the defense strategy i n  seeking an a lternative 

l im it ing instruct ion to that contemplated by the pattern j u ry i nstructions .  The 

defense fe lt there was so much ER 404(b) evidence adm itted that it wou ld  be 

counterproductive to have a proper instruct ion l isti ng the evidence and the 

pu rposes for which it cou ld be cons idered . Not requesti ng a l im it ing instruct ion for 

evidence adm itted under ER 404(b) may be a leg itimate tria l  tact ic to avo id 
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reemphasizi ng damag i ng evidence .  State v .  Yarbrough ,  1 5 1 Wn . App .  66, 90 , 2 1 0  

P . 3d 1 029 (2009) ; State v .  Barragan , 1 02 Wn . App .  754 , 762 , 9 P . 3d 942 (2000) ; 

State v. Donald , 68 Wn . App .  543 , 551 , 844 P .2d 447 ( 1 993) . Lewis does not rebut 

the presumption of reasonable performance .  

Add it iona l ly ,  Lewis does not estab l ish prej ud ice .  The other acts estab l ished 

th rough the ER 404(b) evidence were not s im i lar  to the charged crime of p lann i ng 

a contract mu rder .  Had a l im it ing instruct ion been g iven ,  and the j u ry been 

proh ib ited from consider ing the evidence for the pu rpose of showing Lewis 's 

character and act ion i n  conform ity with that character, the remain i ng overwhelm ing 

evidence of Lewis's gu i lt shows the outcome wou ld not have been d ifferent. 

Next , Lewis claims h is defense counsel was i neffective in fa i l i ng to object to 

Westvo ld-Naekel 's test imony concern ing Lewis's i nteract ion with h is ch i l d ren at 

the September 1 9 , 20 1 7 supervised visit .  The sect ion ded icated to th is ass ignment 

of error i n  Lewis's open ing  brief is a conclusory statement that counsel was 

defic ient .  Lewis does not add ress the issue in h is reply brief. It is not poss ib le to 

reach the merits of th is issue where Lewis fa i ls  to cite to the record or provide lega l  

authority supporti ng h is argument. Westvo ld-Naekel 's observat ions of Lewis's 

demeanor i n  the hours before the mu rder were adm iss ib le ,  and Lewis does not 

show any specific  object ion wou ld have been susta i ned if made .  "Pass ing 

treatment of  an issue or lack of reasoned argument is i nsufficient to merit j ud ic ia l  

cons ideration . "  Ho l land v .  C ity of Tacoma,  90 Wn . App .  533 ,  538, 954 P .2d 290 

( 1 998) . 
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Next, Lewis argues defense counsel's fa i lure to request a limiting instruction 

for Hale's hearsay statements was unreasonable because it permitted the jury to 

consider Hale's hearsay statements as substantive evidence. At a pretrial hearing, 

the trial court granted the State's motion to admit Hale's statements and stated ,  

"[l]f the defense proposes a l imiting instruction, I i n  al l  l ikelihood am inclined to give 

that." However, defense counsel did not propose such an instruction and Lewis 

claims this constitutes deficient performance. Here too, it was a reasonable 

tactical decision to not request a l imiting instruction and avoid reemphasizing 

Hale's statements. 

Lewis also does not establish prejudice. Even if the jury was instructed to 

consider Hale's statements for a l imited purpose, the outcome of the trial would 

not have been d ifferent. Phelps testified that Lewis hired him to kill Canales. This 

and other evidence described above shows the outcome would not have been 

different if an instruction had l imited the jury's consideration of Hale's statements. 

Last, Lewis argues defense counsel provided ineffective assistance in 

fa i l ing to advance an open door theory for the admission of hearsay evidence that 

Lewis was told Canales was out of town. The State moved in l imine to exclude 

hearsay statements of one of Lewis's children. It was represented the child told 

their nanny that she told Lewis that Canales was out of town and that Canales­

McGuire was staying with them.  The State argued that if asked of the nanny, the 

statement was inadmissible hearsay. The trial court granted the motion to exclude 

the statement. 
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During Canales's d i rect examination , the State e l icited the fo l lowing 

test imony: 

[The State] And had you d iscussed the fact that you were 
go ing on a bus i ness tr ip with anyone? 

[Cana les] My fam i ly .  
[The State] And who ,  specifica l ly ,  in you r  fam i ly that you can 

reca l l?  
[Cana les] Wel l ,  defi n ite ly [Cana les-McGu i re] . My parents . 

And I th i nk  my other s ib l i ngs a lso .  
[The State] Were any of them having contact with [Lewis] 

d u ring that period of t ime to you r  knowledge? 
[Cana les] Not to my knowledge .  

Cana les fu rther testified she d id not convey to Lewis that she was go ing to be 

gone ,  nor was she aware of anyone e lse who wou ld have to ld h im .  

"A party may open the door to otherwise inadm iss ib le evidence by 

i ntrod uc ing evidence that must be rebutted in order to preserve fa i rness and 

determ ine the truth . "  State v .  Wafford ,  1 99 Wn . App .  32 , 36-37 , 397 P . 3d 926 

(20 1 7) .  When a party opens the door to a subject , the oppos ing party may request 

adm ission of previously excl uded evidence on that subject du ring cross or red i rect 

examination . State v. Gefe l ler ,  76 Wn .2d 449 , 455 , 458 P .2d 1 7  ( 1 969) , overru led 

on other grounds by State v .  H i l l ,  1 23 Wn .2d 64 1 , 870 P .2d 3 1 3 ( 1 994) ) .  The 

doctri ne "perm its a court to adm it evidence on a top ic that wou ld norma l ly be 

excl uded for reasons of po l icy or undue prejud ice when ra ised by the party who 

wou ld ord i nari ly benefit from excl us ion . "  State v .  Rushworth , 1 2  Wn . App .  2d 466 , 

473 , 458 P . 3d 1 1 92 (2020) . However, " [e]vidence is sti l l  subject to poss ib le 

excl us ion based on constitutiona l  req u i rements ,  perti nent statutes , and the ru les 

of evidence . "  & at 474 . 
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The State e licited testimony Canales was unaware of anyone having told 

Lewis she was gone. Canales did not testify that no one told Lewis she was gone. 

This does not open the door to the child's statement because Canales had no 

knowledge and did not testify that no person told Lewis she would be gone. 

Additionally, the child's statement was inadmissible because it was 

hearsay. Even if the State had broached a subject allowing Lewis to prove a fact 

to put the State's evidence in a fa ir context, Lewis sti l l  would have needed to prove 

the fact through admissible evidence. In  this case, the child's statement was 

excluded because it was hearsay. If Lewis had had admissible evidence that he 

was told Canales would be out of town, he could have sought to present such 

evidence regardless of whether the State first put on evidence that he had not been 

to ld. Defense counsel was not deficient in fai l ing to argue that the State opened 

the door. Lewis also does not establish prejudice, because there is not a 

reasonable probabil ity that the outcome of the proceedings would have been 

different had counsel pursued an open door theory. 

IV 

Lewis argues the trial court "erred in fa il ing to give Lewis's proposed 

instruction on first degree manslaughter as a lesser offense of aggravated first 

degree murder." Lewis contends a jury could have concluded Lewis was merely 

reckless towards the possibil ity that Phelps would kill based on Lewis's request, 

as related by Phelps, that Phelps get Canales " 'out of the way.' " We disagree. 
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During cross-examination, Phelps agreed he "assumed" he knew what 

Lewis meant: 

[Defense Counsel] Okay. And is it fair  to say, [Phelps], that 
you assumed that the language "get somebody out of the way" meant 
that that person was to be killed? 

[Phelps] Yes. 
[Defense Counsel] Did you ever seek clarification from 
[Lewis] and perhaps send him a Snap back and say, "You 
want me to kil l somebody?"? 
[Phelps] I didn't. 

Phelps described this as his understanding of his conversation with Lewis: 

[Defense Counsel] . . . .  So this morning when you testified 
that there were a lot of assumptions that were made in this case, 
were there assumptions made about what you were supposed to do? 
Or were you just thinking that you and [Lewis] were speaking the 
same language? Or can you explain that, please? 

[Phelps] You know, 1-1 assumed that there was no 
clarification needed. I thought, you know, we pretty much were on 
the same page. That's why I didn't ask what he meant when he 
asked to get someone out of the way. I thought it was understood 
what I was going over there to be done. And that's the assumption, 
I guess, that I made. 

Lewis proposed an instruction on first degree manslaughter based on the 

possibil ity of the jury concluding Canales-McGuire's death was the result of 

reckless conduct by Lewis. 

In preliminarily assessing the parties' arguments on whether the evidence 

justified a manslaughter instruction, the trial court focused on Lewis's participation 

in events evolving over time: 

When I 'm looking at this case and the evidence that's been 
presented ,  it is the total ity of what is here in front of the trier of fact. 
So it is the exclusion of the greater that I 'm struggling with, and I do 
think it goes back to, at least as I sit here at the moment, it is the 
issue of the car. It is the issue of what happened that evening. It is 
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not just s imp ly one text message .  It is not j ust s imp ly one 
conversation .  I t  is at least someth ing of a course of conduct .  

Many of these lesser i nc luded cases are just a moment i n  t ime 
factua l ly .  They are not th ings that evo lve over a series of days , 
weeks , or  even months . 

I n  re iterat ing its i n it ia l  assessment, the tria l  cou rt aga in  emphasized there be ing 

"much more" than j ust an "offhand comment" attributed to Lewis .  The tria l  court 

ru led it wou ld not g ive the manslaughter instruction .  

"The statutory rig ht to lesser i nc luded offense instruct ions 'p rotect[s] 

p rocedu ra l  fa i rness and substant ia l  just ice for the accused . ' " State v .  Avington , 2 

Wn .3d 245 ,  258 ,  536 P . 3d 1 6 1  (2023) (alterat ion i n  orig ina l )  (quoti ng State v .  

Corye l l ,  1 97 Wn .2d 397 , 4 1 2 ,  483  P . 3d 98 (202 1 )) .  I t  ensures that "j u ries 

consider ing defendants who are 'p la in ly gu i lty of some offense' do not set aside 

reasonable doubts in order to convict them and avo id lett ing them go free . "  State 

v. Henderson ,  1 82 Wn .2d 734 ,  742 , 344 P .3d 1 207 (20 1 5) (quoting Keeble v .  

U n ited States , 4 1 2 U . S .  205 ,  2 1 2- 1 3 ,  93 S .  Ct. 1 993 ,  36 L .  Ed . 2d 844 ( 1 973)) . I n  

Wash ington ,  

a defendant is entit led to an i nstruct ion on a lesser inc luded offense 
if two cond itions are met. F i rst, each of the elements of the lesser 
offense must be a necessary element of the offense charged . 
Second , the evidence in  the case must support an i nference that the 
lesser crime was comm itted . 

State v. Workman , 90 Wn .2d 443 , 447-48 ,  584 P .2d 382 ( 1 978) (citations om itted) .  

These two cond itions are referred to as the " legal p rong" and the "factual  p rong" of 

the Workman test. Avi ngton ,  536 P . 3d at 1 68 .  The tria l  cou rt ru led that fi rst deg ree 

manslaughter is a lesser inc luded offense of fi rst deg ree murder .  Lewis's appeal 

imp l icates on ly the factual p rong of Workman . 
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Coryel l  exp la i ned , 

[A] defendant is entit led to a lesser i nc luded instruct ion based on the 
evidence actua l ly adm itted . A defendant is not entit led to a lesser 
i ncluded instruction merely because a j u ry cou ld  ig nore some of the 
evidence .  The factual p rong of Workman is satisfied on ly if based 
on some evidence adm itted , the j u ry cou ld reject the g reater charge 
and retu rn a gu i lty verd ict on the lesser. 

1 97 Wn .2d at 406-07 .  The court said , "the factual  req u i rement for g iv ing a lesser 

or  i nferior  deg ree instruct ion is that some evidence must be presented-from 

whatever source , i nc lud ing cross-examination-that affi rmative ly estab l ishes the 

defendant's theory before an instruct ion wi l l  be g iven . "  kl at 4 1 5 .  " I n  cases where 

there is re levant 'confl icti ng evidence ,  th is evidence presents a question of fact for 

the j u ry , '  which is the sole j udge of the weight and cred ib i l ity of the test imony and 

other evidence at tria l . "  Avi ngton ,  536 P . 3d at 1 69 (quoti ng Coryel l ,  1 97 Wn .2d at 

4 1 4) .  The evidence does not need to excl ude the g reater charged crime .  Corye l l ,  

1 97 Wn .2d a t  4 1 7 ,  4 1 8- 1 9 .  

I n  Corye l l ,  the court described the manner i n  which a court must view the 

evidence when eva luati ng the factual p rong of Workman :  

Defendants are entit led to  the  benefit of a l l  t he  evidence presented 
at tria l , regard less of whether they were the i ntroduc ing party . See 
[ 1 1 Wash i ngton Practice :  Wash i ngton Pattern J u ry I nstruction :  
Crim i na l ]  1 . 02 [4th ed . 20 1 6] .  When the appe l late cou rt determ ines 
if the evidence at tria l  is sufficient to support an instruction , it views 
the "support ing evidence i n  the l i ght most favorab le to the party that 
requested the instruction . "  [State v. ]Fernandez-Med ina ,  1 4 1  Wn .2d 
at 455-56 , 6 P . 3d 1 1 50 [2000] . If the evidence perm its a j u ry to 
rationa l ly fi nd a defendant gu i lty of the lesser offense,  a lesser 
i ncluded offense instruct ion shou ld be g iven .  Beck v .  Alabama,  447 
U . S .  625 ,  635 ,  1 00 S. Ct. 2382 , 65 L .  Ed . 2d 392 ( 1 980) . Genera l ly ,  
a defendant may argue incons istent defenses if the defenses are 
supported by evidence .  State v. Frost , 1 60 Wn .2d 765 , 772 , 1 6 1 
P . 3d 36 1 (2007) . Although the evidence must affi rmative ly estab l ish 
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the defendant's theory of the case , it is not enough that the j u ry m ight 
d isbel ieve the evidence po inti ng to gu i lty . [State v. ] Fowler ,  1 1 4 
Wn .2d at 67 ,  785 P .2d 808 [ ( 1 990) , overru led on other grounds by 
State v. B la i r , 1 1 7 Wn .2d 479,  486-87 , 8 1 6  P .2d 7 1 8 ( 1 99 1 ) ] .  The 
court typ ica l ly "err[s] on the s ide of instruct ing j u ries on lesser 
i ncluded offenses . "  [State v .  ]Henderson , 1 82 Wn .2d at 736 , 344 
P . 3d 1 207 [20 1 5] .  

1 97 Wn .2d at 4 1 5 (one a lterat ion i n  orig ina l ) . " [T]he fact- i ntens ive i nqu i ry requ i red 

by the factual p rong is 'often compl icated ' to app ly in practice . "  Avi ngton , 536 P . 3d 

at 1 69 (quoti ng Corye l l ,  1 97 Wn .2d at 406) . A tria l  cou rt's decis ion based on a 

factual determ inat ion app ly ing Workman is reviewed for abuse of d iscretion .  

Avington ,  536 P . 3d at 1 69 ;  Corye l l ,  1 97 Wn .2d at 405 .  

To estab l ish fi rst deg ree murder ,  the State was req u i red to prove that " [w] ith 

a premed itated i ntent to cause the death of another person , "  Lewis "cause[d] the 

death of such person or of a th i rd person . "  RCW 9A.32 . 030( 1 ) (a) . A person acts 

with " i ntent" when the person "acts with the objective or pu rpose to accomp l ish a 

resu lt which constitutes a crime . "  RCW 9A.08 . 0 1 0( 1 ) (a) . A person comm its fi rst 

deg ree manslaughter when the person " recklessly causes the death of another 

person . "  RCW 9A.32 . 060 .  This requ i res that the State "show [a defendant] ' [knew] 

of and d isregard [ed] a substant ia l  r isk that a [homicide] may occu r. ' " State v .  

Gamble ,  1 54 Wn .2d 457 , 467 , 1 1 4 P . 3d 646 (2005) (most a lterat ions i n  orig ina l )  

(q uoti ng RCW 9A. 08 . 0 1 0 ( 1 ) (c)) . The issue is whether there was affi rmative 

evidence from which a j u ry cou ld conclude that Lewis d isregarded a substantia l  

r isk that a hom icide may occur ,  and d id not act with the premed itated objective to 

accomp l ish that resu lt . 

49 



No .  83594-7- 1/50 

In Corye l l ,  the State charged second deg ree assau lt ,  which requ i red that i t  

p rove assau lt by strangu lation , and the defendant sought an instruct ion on fou rth 

deg ree assau lt ,  which requ i red on ly that the State prove assau lt .  1 97 Wn .2d at 

404 , 4 1 5- 1 6 .  Recogn iz ing the  defendant's prerogative to  present alternative 

defenses , the cou rt poi nted to affi rmative evidence estab l ish i ng fou rth deg ree 

assau lt without strangu lation : "Although Corye l l  stated that he was not with 

Hart' Lnen icka in the laundry room,  if the j u ry found that there was an assau lt in the 

laundry room , then he was entit led to the i nference that he was gu i lty on ly of fou rth 

deg ree assau lt based on the po l ice officer's test imony that he saw no petech ia l  

hemorrhag ing . "  kl at 4 1 7 .  Fu rther, there was evidence support ing one conti n uous 

event, not two separate assau lts , which wou ld have supported the j u ry in 

concl ud ing  marks on the victim 's neck came from earl ier phys ical contact ,  not 

strangu lation . kl It was error to refuse the instruction , because the evidence 

"supported an i nference that Corye l l  assau lted , but d id not strang le ,  h is g i rlfriend , 

and thus ,  he was entit led to a lesser deg ree instruction . "  kl at 4 1 8 . 

Here ,  the tria l  cou rt d isti ngu ished Corye l l .  I t  i s  appropriate for th is cou rt to 

"cons ider the tria l  court's remarks i n  the context of the charged offenses and the 

und isputed evidence presented at tria l . "  Avi ngton , 536 P . 3d at 1 7 1 .  The tria l  cou rt 

here focused on the intentiona l ity of Lewis 's act ions over t ime , wh ich was not 

consistent with recklessness . The evidence inc luded ( 1 ) Lewis's past assau lts on 

Canales ,  (2) Lewis's th reat to ki l l  Canales ,  (3) commun icat ion by Phe lps 

concern ing Phe lps's acqu i ri ng a gun  and a partner , (4) Lewis's request that an 

"O[rig ina l]G[angster]" and later Phe lps "get [Cana les] out of the way, " (5)  meet ing 
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Phe lps and Hale to d i rect them to Cana les's res idence ,  (6) showing them a photo 

of Canales , (7) payi ng $2 ,400 .00 ,  (8) Lewis's su rprise when i nformed Canales had 

been out of town , (9) Lewis's untruthfu l cla im he had remained home al l  n ig ht ,  and 

( 1 0) h is neg lect to ask after h is ch i l d ren 's or  anyone's safety desp ite being to ld 

there had been a shooti ng . There is no affi rmative evidence of Lewis havi ng a 

reckless menta l state . Phe lps's test imony that Lewis requested he "get [Cana les] 

out of the way , "  even if subject to d ifferi ng i nterpretat ions ,  is not affi rmative 

evidence that Lewis subjective ly d isregarded a risk that hom icide m ight occu r. " [ l ]t 

is not enough that the j u ry m ight d isbel ieve the evidence poi nti ng to gu i lty . "  Corye l l ,  

1 97 Wn .2d at 4 1 5 .  The tr ial cou rt d id not abuse its d iscret ion i n  decl i n i ng a 

manslaughter instruction . 

V 

Lewis argues the tr ial cou rt erred in  denyi ng h is mot ion to d ism iss the 

charges due to governmenta l m isconduct under CrR 8 . 3(b) . Lewis argues , 

genera l ly ,  that government m ismanagement i n  the form of d iscovery and other 

de lays forced Lewis to choose between h is rig ht to a speedy tria l  and h is rig ht to 

effective ass istance of counse l .  We conclude Lewis d id  not show governmental 

m iscond uct .  

Fol lowing the ti p pol ice rece ived from Lee i n  September 201 8 ,  po l ice 

obta ined search warrants i n  fou r  sets between January 2 ,  20 1 9 ,  and J u ly 24 ,  20 1 9 .  

Authorit ies arrested Hale on Apri l  4 ,  20 1 9 .  They arrested Phe lps on Apri l 5 ,  20 1 9 .  

That day, Phe lps adm itted h is ro le i n  the murder and  stated Lewis had approached 

h im to ki l l  a person Lewis described as h is ex-wife . On Apri l 6 ,  20 1 9 , Lewis ,  then 
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in the Snohomish County Ja i l ,  decl i ned to ta lk  about the hom icide invest igation .  

Lewis was arra igned on Apri l 1 1 ,  20 1 9 . Over the next several months ,  the tria l  

cou rt ordered several contin uances as law enforcement conti nued to gather 

evidence and convey the same to defense counse l .  

On May 9 ,  20 1 9 , the tr ial cou rt set the hearing for the fi rst motion to conti n ue 

on May 23 ,  20 1 9 .  

On May 17  & 22 , 20 1 9 , the State produced to the defense 9 and  38  d iscs 

of d iscovery prod uction . 

On May 23 ,  20 1 9 , the tr ial cou rt ordered a Campbe l l6 conti n uance over 

Lewis's objection .  The prosecutor was i n  the process of reviewing 1 , 500 pages on 

one d isc not yet provided to the defense ,  and there were "about 28 more d iscs to 

go to be provided . "  There was "a s ign ificant amount of i nformation sti l l  com ing i n  

from law enforcement. " Defense counsel i nd icated i t  was a s low process to  review 

the d iscovery with the defendant d ue to the need for redact ions ,  but counsel stated , 

" [ l ]t 's very crit ica l that every p iece of d iscovery is reviewed" with Lewis . Counsel 

represented , " [ l ]f the Court ordered that th is matter was to proceed to tria l  on May 

3 1 st ,  I cou ld not provide effective representat ion to [Lewis] . "  The tria l  cou rt re-set 

tria l  to November 1 5 , 20 1 9 . 

6 State v. Campbe l l ,  1 03 Wn .2d 1 ,  1 3- 1 5 ,  69 1 P .2d 929 ( 1 984) (a l lowing 
conti nuance over defendant's object ion where "Campbel l ' s  counsel cou ld neither 
effective ly represent him nor ensure that he rece ived h is constitut ional  rig ht to a 
fa i r  tria l  with i n  60 days of arra ignment ,  'th rough no fau lt of the i r  own but because 
of the comp lexity and length of this case . ' ") . 
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On November 6, 201 9, the trial court ordered a further continuance. The 

prosecutor represented,  

We have been working di l igently to get d iscovery to defense. 
There have been a number of records, thousands of pages of 
records, that we have reta ined from outside sources. Some of them 
we were having difficulty getting opened, and I wanted to make sure 
al l  of that was functioning and working when we turned it over to 
defense. I have actually given [defense counsel] a whole fo lder 
worth of discovery today that includes thousands of pages of 
d iscovery that she's going to need to go through in order to prepare 
for trial. 

We stil l have defense interviews to do. We stil l have a large 
amount of investigation to be done, I think, for both parties to prepare 
for trial. And so we're asking the Court to continue this matter until 
October 2nd for all of those reasons. [Lewis] is objecting to the 
continuance. 

I have advised [defense counsel] that I am in agreement that 
a continuance is necessary here. 

Trial was set for October 2 ,  2020. This was at defense counsel's request and over 

defendant's objection. 

Afterwards, there were further continuances Lewis describes on appeal as 

being "due to defense counsel's unavailabil ity and several pre-trial motions were 

litigated ." Lewis's later motion to dismiss provides additional detail concerning 

some of these continuances: 

On June 23, 2020, the trial date was continued one week, and the court 

scheduled a pretrial hearing to rule on the State 's E R  404(b) evidence. 

On September 4, 2020, according to Lewis's motion, the "[d]efense 

expressed concerns of transporting [Lewis] to court, given a positive COVID-1 9 

defendant" at the court. 

On October 1 ,  2020, a new trial date was set for March 5, 2021 . 
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The tria l  cou rt held th ree s ign ificant pretria l  hearings .  On October 1 5 , 2020 , 

the court held a heari ng to determ ine the adm iss ib i l ity of the State's d isclosed ER 

404(b) evidence .  On December 2 1 , 2020 ,  the court held a CrR 3 . 5  hearing . On 

January 1 4 , 202 1 , the court held a CrR 3 .6 hearing . 

On January 27 ,  202 1 , Lewis moved to d ism iss under CrR 8 . 3(b) . The 

motion notes Lewis was i n  custody serv ing h is sentence for the assau lt 

convictions .  I n  d iscuss ing prej ud ice to h is rig ht to a fa i r  tria l , Lewis focused a lmost 

ent i rely on the consequences of COVI D-1 9 .  He argued , "During the  de lay, the 

COVI D- 1 9 pandem ic h it the U n ited States , "  as a resu lt of which he wou ld be 

"forced to go to tria l  as a b lack man in  a mask" and " [w] itnesses wi l l  l i kewise be 

masked . "  He referred to COVI D-1 9 's consequences on eva luat ing demeanor ,  fear 

of transm iss ion affect ing j u ry service , j u rors' ab i l ity to hear th rough p lexig lass 

insta l lations ,  hand l i ng  exh ib its and evidence ,  j u rors' worry for the i r  own phys ical 

safety, COVI D- 1 9 's a l leged ly depress ing part ic ipation of m i norities i n  j u ry service , 

l im ited and remote ly conduct ing vo i r  d i re ,  and a concern for l im ited pe remptory 

chal lenges. 7 

At the same hearing , after the court den ied the motion to d ism iss , the parties 

tu rned to the issue of a fu rther conti n uance .  The State ind icated it d id  not bel ieve 

the case wou ld  be ready for tria l  by the exist ing tria l  date of M arch 5 ,  202 1 . 

Defense counsel i nd icated that i n  d iscuss ions with the State she had conti nua l ly 

stated she lacked Lewis's perm iss ion to d iscuss a conti n uance ,  but havi ng 

ant ic ipated the tria l  cou rt's concerns add ressed her own upcom ing unava i lab i l ity ,  

7 Later at tria l  Lewis was afforded h is usual  six peremptory chal lenges. 
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defense i nterviews not yet comp leted , and matters that wou ld  requ i re pretria l  

l it igation inc lud i ng the phone and socia l  med ia records be ing gathered by the State 

and its ant ic ipated tr ial exh ib its . The tria l  cou rt set the case to be ca l led for tria l  on 

October 1 5 , 202 1 , subject to a formal conti nuance order .  The tria l  cou rt went on 

to hear motions i n  l im ine start ing on October 1 4 , 202 1 , start j u ry select ion on 

October 1 8 , 202 1 , and empanel  the j u ry on October 25,  202 1 . 

CrR 8 . 3(b) provides,  "The court ,  i n  the fu rtherance of just ice ,  after notice 

and hearing , may d ism iss any crim ina l  p rosecution d ue to arb itrary act ion or 

governmenta l m iscond uct when there has been prej ud ice to the rig hts of the 

accused which materia l ly affect the accused 's rig ht to a fa i r  tr ia l . "  To support 

d ism issal u nder CrR 8 . 3(b) , the defendant must show by a preponderance of the 

evidence both ( 1 )  arb itrary act ion or governmenta l m iscond uct ,  and (2) actual 

p rejud ice affecti ng the defendant's rig ht to a fa i r  tria l . State v. Mart inez, 1 2 1  Wn . 

App .  2 1 , 29 ,  86 P . 3d 1 2 1 0  (2004) . The m isconduct need not be of an evi l or  

d ishonest natu re ,  but s imp le m ismanagement is sufficient. State v .  M ich ie l l i ,  1 32 

Wn .2d 229 , 239-40 ,  937 P .2d 587 ( 1 997) . D ism issal u nder CrR 8 . 3(b) is an 

extraord inary remedy that is improper except i n  tru ly eg reg ious cases of 

m ismanagement or m isconduct that materia l ly prej ud ice the rig hts of the accused . 

Mart inez ,  1 2 1  Wn . App .  at  30 .  Th is cou rt reviews a CrR 8 . 3(b) ru l i ng for abuse of 

d iscretion ,  which wi l l  be found when a decis ion is man ifestly un reasonable or 

based on untenable g rounds .  kl 

" I n  the d ism issal context , a defendant is prejud iced when delayed d isclosure 

i nterjects ' new facts' shortly before l it igation , forcing h im to choose between h is  
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rig ht to a speedy tria l  and to be represented by an adequate ly prepared attorney . "  

State v .  Salgado-Mendoza , 1 89 Wn .2d 420,  432 ,  403 P . 3d 45 (20 1 7) (quot ing 

State v .  Price ,  94  Wn .2d 8 1 0 ,  8 1 4 ,  620  P .2d 994 ( 1 980)) . The  crim ina l  rules 

impose a conti nu ing ob l igat ion on the prosecutor to reasonably seek the d isclosure 

of d iscoverable i nformat ion not i n  h is  or  her contro l ,  and if the i nformation cou ld 

not be obta ined the prosecutor shou ld notify the court .  kl at 430 (citi ng State v .  

B lackwe l l ,  1 20 Wn .2d 822 , 832 , 845 P .2d 1 0 1 7  ( 1 993)) . 

I n  Salgado-Mendoza , a d rivi ng under the i nfluence case , the State 

d isclosed n i ne potent ia l  toxico log ists five months in advance of tria l ,  without 

specifying which wou ld  testify. 1 89 Wn .2d at 425 .  The day before tria l , the State 

narrowed the l ist to th ree potent ia l  toxico log ists . kl The morn ing  of tria l , the State 

identified the toxico log ist it wou ld ca l l ,  with the prosecutor i nd icating the i nformation 

had been rece ived that morn i ng .  kl The court said the State "d id not l ive up  to its 

d iscovery ob l igations , "  and th is was " l i ke ly" governmenta l  m isconduct .  kl at 433 .  

The court went on to conclude there was no prej ud ice .  kl at 435 . 

I n  State v. Dai ley, 93 Wn .2d 454 ,  458 , 6 1 0 P .2d 357 ( 1 980) , the tria l  cou rt 

d ism issed a prosecution under CrR 8 . 3(b) based on numerous incidents of 

prosecutor ia l  m ismanagement. Charg i ng the defendants with neg l igent hom icide 

aris ing out of a traffic fata l ity , the State i n itia l ly d id not specify whether it be l ieved 

Dai ley or h is codefendant was the d river of the veh ic le .  kl at 455 . For more than 

a month , with no reasonable exp lanation , the State de layed provid i ng i nformat ion 

and laboratory reports the tria l  cou rt had ordered d isclosed . kl The F riday before 

tria l  the fo l lowing Monday, the State added 1 1  new witnesses i n  add it ion to the five 
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it had orig ina l ly d isclosed . � at 456 . The tria l  cou rt offered the State the option 

to try the case with the orig i na l  five witnesses , and , when the State refused , 

d ism issed the case . � The Supreme Court held d ism issal was not an abuse of 

d iscret ion g iven th is comb ination of c i rcumstances . � at 459 .  

In  Mart inez ,  the State's case tu rned i n  part on the identificat ion of a gun  

used i n  the charged robbery. 1 2 1  Wn . App .  at 24-25 .  Although i t  was not d isclosed 

to the defense at the t ime,  before trial "the State knew . . . that the s i lver gun  

identified by  Ms .  Rei nmuth cou ld not have been the same gun  shown to he r  by  Mr. 

Marti nez . "  � at 25 .  For  the  fi rst t ime du ring tria l , t he  evidence d isclosed to  the 

defense that the gun  from the robbery was clearly a d ifferent one from the one that 

Mart inez had possessed per witness Reinmuth's statement. � at 27 .  " I ncred ib ly ,  

even after the reve lation that the gun identified by Ms .  Re inmuth cou ld not have 

been the same gun  used i n  the robbery,  the State aga in  tried to suggest a 

connection between them . "  � at 28 .  After the j u ry dead locked 1 0-2 to acqu it ,  the 

tria l  cou rt declared a m istria l  and , fo l lowing amended charges fi led by the State , 

d ism issed pu rsuant to CrR 8 . 3(b) because of governmenta l m isconduct .  � at 29 .  

We affi rmed , exp la in ing the State had strateg ica l ly withheld excu lpatory 

evidence unti l d u ring tria l , apparently i n  the hope that a witness m ight testify i n  a 

manner d im i n ish i ng the evidence's excu lpatory character .  � at 32-33 ,  36 .  We 

held the State's fa i l u re to revea l  excu lpatory evidence was a v io lation  of due 

process and was "eg reg ious enough"  to satisfy the fi rst requ i rement of CrR 8 . 3(b) . 

� at 34 . We also found prejud ice ,  g iven that " [t] he State prosecutor's withhold ing  

of  excu lpatory evidence unt i l  the m idd le  of  a crim ina l  j u ry tria l  is l i kewise so 
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repugnant to pri nci p les of fundamenta l  fa i rness that it constitutes a vio lation of d ue 

process . "  kl at 35 .  

Lewis fu rther cites State v .  Brooks ,  i n  wh ich "the State fa i led : to provide a 

60-page victim 's statement unt i l  the day before tria l ; to provide Jason Brooks's 

statement to a deputy from the n ight of the incident; to provide the lead detective's 

report ,  which l i kely wou ld have revealed other witnesses that Nata l ie and Jason 

needed to i nterview; and to subpoena the victim for tria l . "  1 49 Wn . App .  373 , 376 , 

203 P . 3d 397 (2009) . Th is cou rt affi rmed the tria l  cou rt's conc lus ion of 

governmenta l m isconduct .  kl at 39 1 . Brooks was marked by seria l  de lays by the 

State to provide i nformation i n  its possess ion , and , accord ing to the tria l  cou rt ,  

" ' [  d ]ump ing '  " i nformation on the defense " 'on the day of tria l  when it was not newly 

created or d iscovered and which had been ava i lab le for weeks . ' " kl at 387 . The 

tim i ng of and omissions from the State's d isclosures underm ined defense 

counse l 's ab i l ity to i nterview the State's i nvest igator and prepare for tr ial i n  a t imely 

fash ion . kl at 390 . 

I n  State v. Sherman , the State charged the defendant with one count of theft 

i n  the fi rst deg ree , a l leg i ng that she had sto len money from her employer. 59 Wn . 

App .  763 , 765 , 80 1 P .2d 274 ( 1 990) . On Apri l 1 4 , 1 989 ,  the tria l  court ordered the 

State to prod uce ,  among other th i ngs , al l  records re lati ng to certa i n  employment 

"subm itted by the employer to the I nterna l  Revenue Service [ I RS] . "  kl On Ju ly 

1 1 ,  the day after tria l  was supposed to have commenced , the State sought 

recons ideration . kl By Ju ly 20,  at tria l , the State had never provided the records .  

kl at  766 . Based on th is and other reasons ,  the tria l  cou rt d ism issed the case . kl 
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We held the State's fa i l u re to prod uce the records was a sufficient reason 

supporti ng d ism issal , exp la in ing  "the State ag reed to undertake product ion of the 

I RS records of the compla i n i ng witness . In sp ite of this ag reement, the State fa i led 

to prod uce the records ,  and then waited unt i l  the day after trial was to have begun  

to  seek reconsideration of  the order . "  .kl at  768 .  

Lewis d id not show m isconduct as  found i n  these authorit ies . Lewis d id not 

show the State fa i led to comp ly with an order to prod uce d iscovery,  s im i lar  to the 

order to prod uce i nformation and laboratory reports in Dai ley, or  the order to 

prod uce I RS documents in Sherman .  Lewis d id not show the State su rprised h im 

with new i nformat ion on the  eve of tria l , as  i n  Sa lgado-Mart inez, Dai ley, and 

Brooks ,  or  d u ring tria l ,  as  i n  Mart inez. And  Lewis d id  not show the  State fa i led to 

t imely prod uce i nformat ion that it had , but inexpl icably de layed producing , as the 

State d id i n  Dai ley, Mart inez ,  and Brooks . 

Rather, focus ing on the sched u le on which the State tu rned over 

i nformation ,  Lewis overlays the d iscuss ions i n  Salgado-Mendoza and B lackwe l l  to 

the effect the State's d iscovery ob l igat ion i ncludes the respons ib i l ity to make 

reasonable efforts to obta in  d iscoverable i nformat ion not i n  the prosecutor's 

contro l .  Lewis argues "there is . . .  no evidence that the State used its best efforts 

to work with Detective Betts and get h im to prod uce h is po l ice report i n  a t imely 

manner . "  The prosecutor's office's ob l igation to obta in  i nformation it d oes not 

d i rectly contro l  is to make reasonable efforts , and then notify the court if it cannot 

obta in  the i nformation . Sa lgado-Mendoza , 1 89 Wn .2d at 430 .  Lewis estab l ished 

that law enforcement was gatheri ng i nformation i n  its efforts to locate evidence that 
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Lewis was i nvo lved i n  the mu rder .  But Lewis d id not estab l ish that the prosecutor's 

office was un reasonable in fa i l i ng to make those efforts occu r more swiftly than 

they d id .  Fu rther ,  the prosecutor d id notify the cou rt that there was add it ional  

i nformat ion being obta ined by law enforcement that h is  office and defense counsel 

wou ld need to review. The prosecutor stated at the November 6, 20 1 9  

conti nuance hearing : "There have been a number of records ,  thousands of pages 

of records ,  that we have reta ined from outs ide sou rces . "  F ina l ly ,  in Brooks , the 

fa i l u re of the deputies to prepare more t imely reports was one fa i l u re among many 

justify ing d ism issal , and the tria l  cou rt's and th is cou rt's concern was not with the 

de lay a lone ,  but the lack of any reasonable exp lanat ion for the de lay, and its 

occu rri ng on the eve of tria l . 1 49 Wn . App .  at 381 -82 , 386-87 . The tria l  cou rt d id 

not abuse its d iscret ion i n  ru l i ng  Lewis d id not show governmenta l  m iscond uct 

under CrR 8 . 3(b) and in  denyi ng h is motion to d ismiss . 8 

VI 

Lewis argues the combi ned errors of the tria l  cou rt and defense counsel are 

prejud ic ia l  i n  the agg regate . We d isag ree . U nder the cumu lative error doctri ne ,  

th is cou rt may reverse a defendant's convict ion when the comb i ned effect of errors 

du ring tria l  effective ly den ied the defendant the i r  rig ht to a fa i r  tria l , even if each 

error stand i ng a lone wou ld be harm less . State v .  Weber, 1 59 Wn .2d 252 , 279 ,  

1 49 P . 3d 646 (2006) . The doctri ne does not app ly where the errors are few and 

have l itt le or no effect on the tria l 's  outcome. & Havi ng reviewed the evidence 

8 Add it iona l ly ,  to the extent Lewis seeks to justify d ism issal based on de lay 
i n  the t ime to tria l , he was requ i red to show a vio lat ion of CrR 3 . 3 ,  a statute , or  the 
state or federal  constitution ,  none of which was shown . See CrR 3 . 3(h) . 
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Lewis does not chal lenge on appea l ,  havi ng concl uded that severa l of the 

chal lenged ru l i ngs were not error, and assuming without decid ing that the tria l  cou rt 

shou ld not have adm itted evidence obta ined th rough the chal lenged warrants ,  

Ha le's hearsay statements ,  and  Fagan 's test imony amounti ng to  an i nferentia l  

op in ion on gu i lt ,  the cumu lative error doctri ne does not afford Lewis re l ief. 

Compared to the extensive ,  u nchal lenged and untai nted evidence ,  any errors are 

few and cou ld have had no effect on the outcome. 

VI I 

Lewis argues the imposit ion of a l ifet ime no-contact order barri ng contact 

with h is ch i l d ren shou ld be remanded because the tria l  cou rt d id not sufficiently 

weigh  h is fundamenta l rig ht to parent. We ag ree . 

Because the j u ry found the murder occu rred with i n  the s ig ht or  sound of 

Lewis's m i nor ch i l d ren , the State req uested that the tr ial cou rt enter no-contact 

orders with regards to the th ree ch i l d ren . I n  response to the tria l  cou rt's i nqu i ry ,  

defense counsel rep l ied , 

You r  Honor ,  we understand the State's posit ion . I haven 't had a 
chance to d iscuss that i n  any deta i l  with [Lewis] , but we understand 
that the Court wi l l  order it .  And if [Lewis] wishes to add ress the Court 
at some futu re date about havi ng contact with h is ch i l d ren , then he 
can fi le a motion . 

The tria l  cou rt ordered no-contact with the th ree ch i l d ren based on the j u ry's fi nd i ng 

and havi ng heard the evidence .  

Pu rsuant to  RCW 9 . 94A. 505(9) , a tria l  court may impose "crime-re lated 

proh ib it ions" as a sentencing cond it ion . I n  re Pers .  Restra int of Rainey. 1 68 Wn .2d 
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367 , 374 , 229 P . 3d 686 (20 1 0) (d iscuss ing former RCW 9 . 94A.505(8) (20 1 0)) . "A 

no contact order is a crime-re lated proh ib ition . "  State v .  Howard , 1 82 Wn . App .  

9 1 , 1 0 1 ,  328  P . 3d 969  (20 1 4) .  A tria l  cou rt's imposit ion of a sentencing cond it ion 

is reviewed for an abuse of d iscretion . State v .  Torres , 1 98 Wn . App .  685, 689 ,  

393 P . 3d 894 (20 1 7) .  

Parents have a fundamenta l constitut ional  rig ht "to the care , custody, and 

compan ionsh ip  of the i r  ch i l d ren . "  State v .  Deleon , 1 1  Wn . App .  2d 837 , 84 1 , 456 

P . 3d 405 (2020) . A sentenc ing cond it ion that i nfri nges th is fu ndamenta l  

constitutiona l  rig ht may be upheld on ly if the cond it ion is reasonably necessary to 

accomp l ish the essential needs of the State and pub l ic  order ,  and it is "sens itively 

imposed . "  State v .  Warren ,  1 65 Wn .2d 1 7 , 32 , 1 95 P . 3d 940 (2008) . A court can 

impose a cond ition that restricts the fundamenta l rig ht to parent as long as the 

cond it ion is reasonably necessary to prevent harm to the ch i ld .  State v .  Anci ra ,  

1 07 Wn . App .  650 ,  654 ,  27 P . 3d 1 246 (200 1 ) .  

O n  the record before us ,  we are unable to review whether the no-contact 

order was reasonably necessary to accomp l ish the State's essent ia l needs or was 

imposed sens itively to the constitutiona l  rig hts at stake . See State v. Reedy. 26 

Wn . App .  2d 379 , 394-95 ,  527 P . 3d 1 56 (2023) , review den ied , 1 Wn . 3d 1 029 ,  534 

P . 3d 798 (2023) . To the extent of our  record , the tria l  cou rt d id not acknowledge 

Lewis's fundamenta l rig ht to parent or  add ress whether the no-contact order was 

reasonably necessary to prevent harm to the ch i l d ren .  Torres , 1 98 Wn . App .  at 

690 ;  Peters , 1 0  Wn . App .  2d at 584 .  We do not vacate the no-contact order at th is 

t ime, but remand for the tria l  cou rt to consider the essent ia l needs of the State and 
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publ ic order, the impact of the no-contact order on Lewis's fundamental right to 

parent, and whether the no-contact order is necessary to protect the ch i ldren from 

harm . 

I n  al l  other respects , the judgment is affi rmed . 

WE CONCUR: 
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